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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALTIFORNIA

October 2017 Grand Jury

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, SA CR E 1QR 18 1 i} U #)U
Plaintiff, 13D _I_ CTM g’,m‘ T
V. [18 U.8.C. & 371: Conspiracy;
18 U.S.C. §§ 1341, 1346: Mail
JACOB E. TAUBER and Fraud Involving Deprivation of
SERGE OBURHOFF, Honest Services; 18 U.8.C.
88 1343, 1346: Wire Fraud
Daefendants. Involving Deprivation of Honest

Services; 18 U.S.C. § 1952 (a} (3);
Use of an Interstate Facility in
Ald of Unlawful Activity; 42
U.5.C., §.1320a~-7b{b) (1) (A): )
Soliciting and Recelving Illegal
Remunerations for Health Care :
Referrals; 18 U.S.C. § 2: Adding
and Abetting and Causing an Act to
he Done; 18 U.8.C. 88 S82{a) (7),
981 (a) (1) {C) and 28 U.8.C.

§ 2461 (c): Criminal Forfeiture]

The Grand Jury charges:
INTRODUCTORY ALLEGATIONS_
At all times relevant to thls Indlctwment:
1. Healthamart Paclfic Inc., doing business as Pacific
Hospital of Tong Beach (“Pacific Hospital”), was a hospiltal located

in Long Beach, California, specializing in surgeries, particularly
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gpinal and orthopedic surgeries. From at least in or around 1997 to
October 2013, Pacific Hospital was owned and/or operated by Michael
D. Dreobot (“Drobot”). Along with Drobot, unindicted co-conspirator 4
(“UcCc-A") owned and/ox operated Pacific Hospiltal from in or around
2005 to in or around October 2010, James Canedo (“Canedo”) was the
Chief Pinancial Officer of Pacifilc Hospital. UCC-B was the éeneral
Coungel and Chief Compliance Officer of Pacific Hospital. UCC-C wasg
an executive and attorney who oversaw personal injury cases at
Pacific Hoaspital.

2, Defendant JACOB E. TAUBER (“defendant TAUBER") was an
orthopedic surgeon based in Beverly Hills and Glendale, Californila
who, during the relevant time pericd, performed primarily non-spinal
gurgerles and referred spinal surgeries to other surgecns. UCC-D wag
defendant TAUBER’s offlce manager and advised him in busineas
matters.

3. Jacob E. Tauber, M.D., A Profesgional Corporatlon (“JET,
M.D., APCY) was a California professional corpoiation owned and
operated by defendant TAUBER,

4, Defendant SERGE ORUKHOFF (“defendant OBUKHOFFY) was a

neurosurgecn practicing out of various medical clinics located in the

Central Ddstrict of California, including in Sherman Oske, Garden

Grove, Torrance, and Beverly Hills, California.

5, Serge Obukhoff, M.D., A Professional Corporation (®SO,
M.D., APC*}, was a California professional corporation owned and
operated by defendant CGBUKHOFF.

6. Lauren Papa (“Papa”) was a chiropractor with a medical
office located at 4955 Van Nuyé BOulevard, Suite 407, in Sherman
Oaks, California (“Papa’s Sherman Ozks clinle”}, who referred

2
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patients reguiring spinal surgery to defendant OBUKHOFF and others.
Papa entered intc arrangements to recelve illegal kickbacks and
bribes through California Authorizations, LLC, an entity she owned
and controlled.

7. Philip Sobol (“Sobol”) wasg an orthopedic surgeon who
referred surgery patients to defendant TAUBER, defendant OBUKHOFF,
and others, under the express understanding that the spurgeries would
be pérformed at a designated hogpital where Scbol had a financial
arrangement to send such surgery referrals, which consisted first of
Pacific Hogplital and later other hospitals.

8. Juetin Paquette (“Paguette”) wasg a neurosurgeon who, from
in or about October 2010 to in or about August 2011, practiced out of
defendant TAUBER's medical office in Beverly Hills, California,
approximately two to four days a month, to treat patients defendant
TAUBER referred to him for sgpinal surgery comsultations.

9. Linda Martin (“*Martin®) was a former PSPM executive, who,
in or about September 2010, returned a=g a PSPM “marketer” to
facllitate kickback arrangements between Paglflc Hospital and
Affiliated Entities,.on the cne hand, and defendants TAUBER and
OBUKHOFEF, and Paquette, on the other hand..

10. UCC-H was a paralegal and risk manager for Pacific
Hogpital, PSPM, I2, and other Pacific Hospltal-affillated entities
(collectively, “Pacific Hospital and Affiliated Entities”).

11. UCC-J was a neuresurgeon to whom defendant TAUBER referred
gpinal surgeries with instructions to perform surgery on such

patients at Paclfic Hoapital.
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12. UCC-XK was an orthopedic sgpinal surgery specialist to whom
dafendant TAUBER referred splnal surgeries with instzuctions to
perform surgery on such patients at Paclific Hospital.

13. Pacific Specialty Physician Management, Inc. (“PSPM”) was a
aorporation, owned and/or aentrolled by Drcbot and others and
headguartered in Newport Beach, California, that provided management
sarvices for physicians’' offices and entered into various contractual
arrangements with physiciang, chiropractors, and others to steer
business to Paclfic Hogpital. UCC-E was.a PSPM executive and
administrator who facilitated PSPM’s relationships with physicians.
UCC~-F wag the Chief Financial Officer at PSPM from approximateiy mid-
2008 to late-2013. First Medical Management, Inc. (“FMM”) was a
human reséurces company Drcbot owned and/ér contreclled that was
affiliated with Pacific Hospital and PEPM.

14. International Implants LLC {“I2") was a limited liability
company, controlled by Drobot and headguartered in Newport Beach,
California, that purchased implantable medical devices, hardware, and
instrumentation for spinal surgeries (“spinal hardware”) from
eriginal manufacturers and sold them to hospitals, particularly
Pacific Hospital.

15. California Pharmacy Management LLC (“CPM“) was a limited
liability company, headgquartered in Newport Beach, California, that
operated and managed a pharmaceutical dispensing program in medical
clinlos for physiclans. Drobot and Michael R. Drobot (“Drocbot Jr.”).
owned and/cr operated CPM, _

16. indugtrial Pharmacy Management LLC (“IEPMY) was a.limited
liebility company, headgquartered in Newport Beach, California. IPM
operated and managed a pharmaceutical dispensing program in medical

4




10

11

12

13

14

15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
a7

28

Case 8:18-cr-00140-DOC Document 1 Filed 07/12/18 Page 5 of 65 Page ID #:5

clinics for physiciang through the use of pharmaceutical management
agreemants and claime purchase agreements. Drobol Jr. operated ILPM,
while Drobot principally owned IPM until approximately 2010, when
Drobot Jr: assumed ownership and control of IPM. UCC-G& assilgted
Drobot Jr. with IPM operations.

17. Advanced Practice Services, Inc., doing business as Advance
Pharmacy Services {“APS8"), was a "“marketing” entity ownad and
controllied by Drobot Jr. that steered ancillary service refarrals,
purchasés, and orders invelving magnetic resonance imaging (*MRIs®),
toxicology testing, and durable medical equipment (“DME”) to business
affiliates that paid APS for generating such business.

lg. AapsS Affiliate A provided DME, éuch ag bracesg, collars, and
orthotica, to medical providers for use in tresting patients. APS
had an agreement with APS Affiliate A that provided compensatioﬁ to
APS for generating and stesring DME referrals to APS Affiliate A.

19. APS Affiliate B was a laboratory that, among other
services, performed testing of urine spedimens, gensrally known as
urinalyeis (“M/AY) or, more gpecifically, when testing for the
presence of opiolds and other narcotice, urine drug testing (“UDT").
APS had an agreement with APS Affiliate B that provided compensation
to APS for generating and steering UA referrals to APS Affiliate B.
{AP8 Affiliate A and APS Affiliate B are colleétively referred to
herein as “APS Affiliates,” while APS and APS Affiliates are
collectively referred to herein as “AP3 and Affiliates.”)

California Workerg’ Compensation System (“CWCS”)

20. The California Workers’ Compensation System (“CWCS”) was a
gystem created by Califormia law to provide imsurance covering
treatment of injury or illness guffered by individuals in the course

=
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of their employment. Under the CWCS, employers were reguired to
purchase workers’ compensation insurance policies from insurance
carriers to cover theilr employees. When an employee suffefed a
covared injury or illness and recelved medical services, the medical
gervice provider submitted a claim for payment to the relevant |
insurance carrier, which then paid the claim. Claims were submitted
to and pald by insurance carriers either by mail or electronically,
The CHCS war goﬁerned by various California laws and regulatiomnsa.

21. The California State Compensation Insurance Fund (“SCIF”Y)
weg a non-profilt insurance carrier, created by the California
Legislatiure, that provided workers’ compensation insurance to
employees in California, including serving as the “insurer of lé&st
regsort” under the CWCS gystem for emplovers without any other
coﬁerage.

The FECA Program

22. 'The PFederal Employees’ Compensation kcot, Title 5, United
States Code, Sections 8101, et seq. provided certaln bemnefits to
givilian employees of the United States, for wage-loss disability due
to a trauﬁatic injury or occupational disease sustained while working
ae a federal employese (the “FECA program”). Benefitsg available to
injured employeeg included rehabilitation, medical, surglcal,
hospital, pharmaceutical, and supplies for treatment of an injury.

23. The Office of Workers' Compensation Programs (“CWCE"), a
component of the Department of Labor (“DOL”), adminigtered the FECA
program, which was a federal workers' compensation program focused on
return to work efforts.

Health Cara Programs

24. The FECA program wag a “Federal health care program,” as

6
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defined by 42 U.5.C. § 1320a-7h(f).

28. SCIF and other workers’ compensation insurance carriers,
the PECA program, personal injury insurers, and other public and
private plans and contracts, were “health care benefit programs” (as
dafined in.18 U.8.C. § 24(b)}, that affected commarce.

Ralevant California Laws Pertaining to Bribery and Kickbacks

26, Californla law, including but not limited to the California
Business and Professions Code, the California Insurance Code, and the
California Labor Coﬁe, prohibited the offering, delivering,
soliciting, or receiving of anything of value in return for referring
a patient for medical services.

27, California Business & Professiong Code Section 650
érohibited-the offer, delivery, receipt, or acceptance by certain
licensees -- gpecifically including physicians and chirepractors --
of any commigsion or other consideration, whether in the form of

money or otherwige, ag coupengation cor inducement for referring

patients, clients, or customers to any person.

28. Callifornia Insurance Code Séction 750 (a) pxrehibited anyone.
who engaded in the practice of processing, presenting, or negotiating
¢laimg -~ including claims under policles of insurance -- from
offering, delivering, receiving, or accepting any commission or other
consideration, whether in the form of money or otherwisa,‘as
compansatior or inducement to any person for the referral or
procuremsni of clients, cases, patients, or customers.

Flduclary Duties and the Physician-Patient Relatilonship

29. A “fiduciary® obligaticn generally exlsgted whenever one
person -- a client -- pladed gpecial trust and confidence in anothexr
-- the fiduciary -- in reliance that the fiduciary would exercise his

7
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or her discretion and expertige with the utmost honesty and
forthrightness in the interests éf the client, such that the client
could relax the care and vigilance she or he would ordinarily
exerciée, and the fiduciary knowingly accepted that special trust and
gonfidence and thereafter undertock to act cn behalf of the c¢lient
based on such reliance.

30. Physicians owed a fiducilary duty to their patients,
requiring phyvsicians to act in the best interest of their patlents,
and not for thelr own professional, pecunilary, 0r personal gain.
Physicians owed a duty of honest services to their patiente for
decisions made relating to the medical care of thode patients,
including the informed choice of whether to undergo surgery and other
medical progeduras, as well ag the gelection of a provider and
facility for such eurgeries and procedurag, Patients’ right to
honest services from physicilans included the right not to have
physician-fiduciaries molicit or accept bribes and kickbacks
connected to the medical care of such patients, specifically
including decigions concerning patient-related reférrals, purchasing,
and ordering in connection with spimal surgeries, other types of
surgeries, MRI=z, UA/UDT, DME, and other services and items (the

“Kicgkbaok Tainted Surgerles and Services®).
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-1

COUNT. ONE
iLe U.8.C. § 371]
31. Paragraphs 1 through 30 of this Indictment, inciluding all
subparagraphs, are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if
fully set forth herein.

A, OBJECTS OF THE CONSPIRACY

32. Beginning on an unknown date, but no later than in or
around 2009, and continuing through at least in or around 2013, in
Orange and Log Angeles Counties, within the Central District of.
California, and elsgewhere, Drobot, Drobot Jr., defendants TAUBER and
OBUKHOFF, together with Scobol, Pagquette, Papa, Martin, UCC-D, UCC-E,
TCC-F, and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury at wvarious
times, knowingly combinad, conspireé, and agreed to commit and to aild
and abet in the commission of the following offenses against the
United States:

a. Honest serviceg mall and wire fraud, in wviolation of
Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341, 1343, and 1346;

b. Tge of the maile and interstate facilitieg in ald of
bribery, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Secticn
1952 (a);

o. Knowingly and willfully soliciting or receiving
remmeration in return for referring an individual for the furnishing
and. érranging for the Furnighing 9f any item or service, and in
return for arranging for and recommending purchasing or ordering any
good, service, or item, for which payment may be made in whole or in
part under a federal health care program, in violation of Title 42,

United States Code, Section 1320a-7b(b) (1); and
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d. Knowingly and willfully offering to pay or paying any
remuneration to any person to induce such person to refer an
individual for the furnishing and arranging for the furnishing of any
item or mervice, and to arrange for and recoumend purchasing or
ordexring any go&d, gervice, or itew, Ffor which payment may be made in
whole or in part under z federal health care program, in violation of
Title 42, United States Code, 8ection 1320a-7h{b) (2).

B. MANNZER AND MEANS OF THE .CONSPTRACY

33, The objecte of the conspiracy were to be carried out, and
were carried out, in the following ways, améng othets:

a. Drobot, Drobot Jxr., Martin, and oéher co-consplrators
worklng with Pacific Hospital and Affiliated Entities (collectively,
the “Kickback Paying Hegpital Executives’) would seek out physicians
{the “Pacific Induced Physicians"], as well as chiropractors,
marketers, and others (collectively, the “Pacific Kickback
Recipients”) to emter into related and overlapping financial
arrangements to induce Pacific Kickback Recipients to refer patients
to Pacifle Hogpital for Kickback Tainted Surgeries and Services.

b. Influenced by the promise of kickbacks and bribes,
defendants TAUBER and OBUKHOPF, along with Scbol, Paquette, Papa, and
other Pacific Xickback Récipients would cause patients insured by
varicus health care benefilt programeg or subject to personal injury
ciaims or llens (collectively, “Potential Claim Payers”), to recelve
Kickback 'Talnted Surgeries and Sexvicesg at Pacifi¢ Hogpital and
Affiliated Entities.

o, To conceal and disgulse the kickback and bribe
arrangements from Potential Clalm Payers, patients, and law
enforcement, the Kickback Paying Hospital Executives, through Pacific

10
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Hogpital and Affiliated Entities, would enter into writtem contracts
with the Pacific Kickback Recipients, including sublease agreements,
option agreswments, marketing agreements, and pharmacy agreements.

d. The written contracts would not specify that one

purpose for the agreements would be to induce Pacific Kickback
Reciplents to refer Kickback Tainted Surgerieg and Services to
Pacific Hospital and Affiliated Entities. Additionally, the value or
conglideration discusped ag part of these arrangements would, in fact,
generally not be provided or desired; rather, the compensation would
be paid, entlrely or i=n part, depénding on the arrangement, Lo cause
Pacific Kickback Recipients to refer kickbaak Talnted Surgeries and
Services to Pacific Hospital and Affiliated Entities. Relatedly, the
written contracts would generally allow for remuneration to Pacific
Kickback Recipients far in sxcess of any reasonable fair market value
asgeasment of legitimate services or things of value purportedly
contracted for -- to the extent calculatad without regérd Lo the
value of the Kickback Tainted Surgeries and Sarvices.

e, Sobol would receive remuneration to induce his
referral of patients potentlally reguiring surgery ("Sobol

Referrals”) to a “stable” of doctors, including, from at least 2009,

defendant TAUBER, and from at least in or about June 2011 to in or
about May 2012, defendant OBUKHOFF, who would both know of Sobol’s
kickback arrangement with Pacific Hospital, and whe would facilitate
that arrangement by performing surgery on Sobol Referrals at Pacific
Hospital. The illegal kickback and bribe payments would be provided
to Sobol under the guise of pharmacy and optlon agreements.

£. No later than in or about May 2010, Drobot Jr. and

Sobol would introduce defendant TAUBER to Drobot for the purpese of

11




10
1l
12
i3
14
15
1e
17
18
19
20
21

22

24
25
26
27

28

Case 8:18+cr-00140-DOC Document1 Filed 07/12/18 Page 12 of 65 Page 1D #:12

arranging for femuneration to be paid to defendant TAUBER to
influence the referral of defendant TAUBER’s own patients potentially
requiriﬁg spinal surgery (“Tauber Referralg”) to Pacific Induced
Surgeons. These Pacific Induced Surgecons would include Paquette,
defendant OBUKHOFF, and others, who would be expected to perform such
surgeriesg at Pacific Heapital. The illegai kickback and bribe
payments would be provided te defendant TAUBER under the guise of a -
gsublease agreement with PSPM, which purported to subleasge defendant
TAUBER'S entlre Beverly Hille office to P8PM, when, in reality,
defendant TAUBER, UCC-D, and PSPM, through Martin, UCC-E, and'Drobot,
agrged and understood that PSPM would uge only a fraction of the
office apace on a frequency ranglng from once per week to twice per
month‘first for Pagquette, and later, defendant OBURHOF¥, to treat
patients defendant TAUBER referrad to, between October 2010 and
approximately May 2011, Pagquette, or; from approximataly at least
July 2011 to 2013, defendant: OBUXHOFF, for a spinal surgery consult.

g. Defendant OBUKHOFF would independently receive
remuneration t£o induce his performance of Kickback Tainted Surgeries
and Services at Pacific Hospital and Affiliated Entities. The
illegal kickback and bribeg would be provided to defendant OBUKHOFF
under the guisge of a bogus option agreement that providedlfor the
purported *purchase [of] assets, including stock and goodwlill” of
defendant COBUKHOFF's medical practice purportedly located at, what
wag, in fact, Papa’s Sherman Daks clinic. Defendant OBUKHOFF's bogus
option agreement further provided for fixed monthly option payments
of §50,000 per month, when, in reality, the option paywents varied
from month-to-month and were calculated based on the mumbar of spinal
gsurgeries defendant OBUKHOFF pérformed at Pzcific Hospital.

12
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h. The Kickback Paying Hospital Executives would also
provide an additional inducement to defendant OBUKHOFF, through,
gtarting in or about May 2011, monthly payments to Papa, that
defandant OBUKEOFF would arrange wilth Drobot, in part, to cover the
rent for defendant OBUKHCFF at Papa’s Sherman Cake clinic where,
approximately once every other week, defendant OBUKHOFF would see
patients Papa would refer to him for spinal gurgery consgulis. These
monthly payments to Papa would far exceed her total monthly rent
paymentg and would also be intended to provide an inducement to Papa
to further ensure that all her referrals to defendant OBUKHOFF would
be performed at Paclfic Hospital.

i, In an effort to coordinate and capture the maximum
number of surgery referrals at Pacific Hospital, Xickback Paying
Hospital Executives would maintain, review, track, and communicate
about the foregoing intex-conrnected network of surgery referrals

generated by Scbol, defendants TAUBER and OBUKHOFF, Papa, Paquette;

and others. Drobot and UCC-F would alsc offiget the monthly amount of
kickback and bribe payments owed to defendant OBUKHOFF to acaount for
kickback and bribe paywmente paid te Papa (and ancther <o-comsgpirator)
for referrals to defendant OBUKHOFF,
3. In an attempt to evade law enforcement and avold

criminal liability for the foregoing illegal kickback arrangements:

i. Drobot and defendant OBUKHOFF would discuss and
cause to be drafted an after-the-fact “Physician Development
Agreement’ to falgely explain why PSPM pald defendant OBUKHOFF/s rent
at defendant TAUBER’s Beverly Hills office despite having no
contemporaneous legal justification or basis for making such rent
payments; '

13
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il. Defendant TAUBER would instruct Pagquette not to

cpenly discuss the fact that 28PM “covered” Paguette’s rent at

defendant TAUBER's offlce in exchange for Paguette taking defendant
TAUBER’g surgery referrals to Pacific Hospital; and, relatedly,

iil. Defendant TAURER would spontaneously make
statements to co-congpirators and other individuals that his subleage
with PYPM was “falr market wvalue,” degpite the fact that PSPEM covered
esgentially the entire leage amount for defendant TAUBER’s Baverly
Eilles medical office, while the parties to the sublease agreement
uwnderstcod, at the time the sublease wag executed, that PSPM would
only use a fractlon of the office space on limited days of the week
to capture defendant TAUBER's gpinal surgery referrals for the
benefit of Paclfic ﬁospital and Affiliated Entities.

C. EFFECTS OF THE CONSPIRACY

34. Had Poteantial Claim Payers and patients known the truas
facts regarding the payment of kickbacks for the referral of Xickback

Tainted Surgeries and Services performed at Pacific Hospltal: (a) the

Potentlial Claim Payerse would have subjected the claime to additional
review, would not have paid the claims, and/or would have paid a
legger amount cn the claims; and (b) patients would have more closely
gerutinized a gurgery or hospltal service recommendation, would.have
sought second opinions from physicians who did not have a financial
conflict of interesst, would not have had the surgery or service
performed, and/or would have insisted on a different hospital
facllity.
D. OVERT ACTS

35. On or about the following dateg, in furtherance of the
congplracy and to accomplish the objects.of the conaplracy, Drobot,

14
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Drobot Jr., Bcbol, defendant TAUBER, defendant CBUKHOFF, Papa,
Pagquette, Martin, and cther cdo-congpirators known and unknown to the
Grand Jury, committed, willfully caused others to coumit, and sided
and abetted the commigsion of the following overt acts, among others,
within the Central Digtrict of California and elsewhere:

Overt Act No. 1: On or aboub Novewmber 3, 2008, an

officer working with ESPM aent an small te Drobot and others with the

subject “Schol refervals,” which identified patients Sobol referred

during September and Cctober 2008.. The list included saverszl
patients that were referred to defendant TAUBER, including patient
C.N.

Overt Act No. 2: On March 10, 2009, Drobot Jr. emailed

Drobot, UCC-A, and others, writing:
Dr. Tauber has agreed to bring his Sckol referrals back to
PHLE. From De¢ to mid March Sobol sent 15 referrals to
Tauber. This eguates to 5/mo. Agsumlng not everything is
authorized we should expect 3-4 cases a month. He will try
to schedule one day z month in the OR to fulfill his
cbligation. '

Overt Act No. 31 On or about March 31, 2009, defendant

OBUKHOFF began billing for medical treatments provided at Papa’s
Sherman Oaks clinlc. Defendant OBUKRHOFF did not own, operate, or
contrel the practice at this locatilon.

Overt Ackt No. 4: On or zhout March &, 2010, UCC-B sent

an email to defendant OBUKHOFF and Drobot stating, in part, “Dear Dr.
Obukhoff, attached should be the option agreement.” Attached to the
emall was aﬁ Option Agreement, in which the location of defendant
OBUKHMOFF's practice and the Option Payment amount was blank.

15
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Overt Act No. 5: On or about March 16, 2010, UCC-B sent

an emall, with the subJect “Revised Draft Agreement,” to defendant
OBUKHOPFF and Drobot stating, in part, “Dear Dr. Obukhoff, here is the
option agreement witﬁ the revisions we discussed with Mike Drchot.¥
The attached agreement was between Serge Obukhoff, MD, the “Optionocr®
and PSPFM, the “Optiomea.” The agreement stated, in part, that

(1) defendant CBUKHOFF “owng and operates an orthcpedic medical
practice with cffices in Southern California’; (2) that PSPM “wighes
to purchase [and defendant OBUKHOFF wighes to mell] the agsets,
including the atock and goodwill, of [defendant OBUKHOFF’a] madical
practlice located 1n 4955 Van Nuys Blvd., Sulte 407, Sherman Oaks, CA
9403 [sic].” In the section of the agreement titled, “Option
Payments,” it stated that the payments, commencing on March 15, 2010,
ahall be for $£50,000 per month for aggregate additiocnal Option
Payments equal to “Ten Milliorn Dollars ($5,000,000) [sic].” The
optlon agreement algo contained a section titied, “WNo Payments for
Referrals,” which stated that *[n]lo payment made or received under
[the agreement] . . . ig in return for the referral of patients. . .”

Overt Act No., 6: On or about April 19, 2010, Sobel

emalled Drobot Jr., Drobot, and an IPM employee writing, *I assume
gince no check ever came and there has been no contact that vou guys
no longer wish to work with my office [T)] will look intec my
other hospital optlons and will cancel all pending surgeries and

+

thoge gpine congultante etc immediately[.1”

Qvert Act No. 7: On or about May 10 and 11, 2010, Schol,

Drobot Jr., and defendant TAUBER exchanged emalls, wherein Sobol
wrote to Drobot Jr. that defendant TAUBER was “not doing my cases at
Paaific.” Drobot Jr. responded to defendant TAUBER writing that “we
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gpoke about making sure we do 3-4 cages a monthl[.l” Defendant TAUBER
responded to Drobot Jr.: “I can assure you that I personally would
never intentionally take a ‘Sobol’ referral elsewhere. Clearly, my
office screwed up. Haviné gaid that, I have clearly brought =ome of
my own casged to Pacific and intend to bring morel[.]¥

Cvert Act No. §: As part of the game email chain

identified in the preceding Overt Bect, on or about May 10, 2010,
defendant TAUBER separately emailed UCC-D, writing, “So, here is a
cologsal zcrew-up that dwarfe anything else. Scbol referrals helong
at Paclfic. I alsgo need to add to thesme,”

Overt Act No. 9: On or about May 11, 2010, Drobot Jr.

emalled defendant TAUBER “[m]y father is going to call you about
putting a spine gpecialist in your office{a).”

Overt Act No. L0: On or about August 25, 2010, in

respongs to UCC-J cancelling an appolntment with a patient referred
by defendant TAUBER, defendant TAUBER emalled UCC-D writing, “Michael
Drebot 8r offered a great solubion{.l”

Overt Aot No. 1l: Ag part of the game email chain

identified in the preceding Overt Act, on or about August 25, 2010,
UQC-D responded to defendant TAUBER, “how much space doeg he want and
how much will he pay?”

Cvert Acgt No. 12: Az part of the same email chain

ldentified in the preceding two Overt Acts, on or about August 25,
2010, defendant TAUBER replied to UCC-D, “He wants to put a N3
[neurosurgeon] in offc [sic] and possiblycover [sic] it all”.

Overt Act No. 13: On or about September 30, 2010, TCC-D

gent an email to UCC-E, writing:
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Nice meeting with you and [hinda Martin] the other day. I hope
I can be of some agsistance as we move forward in this procesa.

Attached are the files you should need for a complete copy of

Dr. Tauber’s lease.
The attached files related to the various 1ease documents for 25033
Wilshire Blwvd., Suite 401, Beverly Hillg, Cglifornia, between
defendant TAUBER and his various landlords. One of the lease
documants Included the “Second Amendment to Office Lease,” executed
in 2009, which identified the office as 4,559 rentable square feet
with a monthly basa rent of $23,706.80 as of February 1, 2010.

Overt Act No. 14: On or about Octcber 5, 2010, defendant

TAUBER emailed Drobot writing, in part, “A cervical surgery was done
at Pacific Hospital on my patient [P.B.] by [UCC-J]. We should speak
when you return. There are cothers that are my patients as well.”

Overt Act No. 15: On or about October 12, 2010, UCC-B

gent an emall with the subject “Tauber” to UCC-H stating, in part,
"“Wead the lease today Mike lg meeting with him [defendant TAUBRER]
tomorrow.”

Overt Act No. 16: On or about October 20, 2010, check

number 18495 was issued from PSPM to JET, M.D., APC, in the amount of
$23,706.80, with the memc “Sublease Beverly Hills Oct 15t 2010.7

Overt Act No. 17: On or about October 20, 2010, UCC-EBE

emailed Drobot writing, in part, that Paquette gtarted at Pacific
Hospital the previous day and that.defendanﬁ TAUBER requested that
P3PM/Pacific Hogpital “gponsor an open house at his office on
12/9/2010,"

Overt Act No. 18: On or about Cotober 20, 2010, UCC-¢

sent an emall to Drobot writing that “Tauber ilg saying that [UCC-J]
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did a number of Federal w/c cases that were his @ Pacific. Ha wants
credit and not [UCC-J].”

Overt Act No. 19: On or about December 1, 2010, Canedo

sent an email to Drobot and UCC-B with the subject “Cbukhoff casesn,”
writing, in part, “The cases for Obukhoff for inpatient surgery
during January 1, 201C¢ to November 30, 2010 were as follows: . . .¢
The emalil contained a listing of surgeries Ey type, the number of
surgeriés in sach category, and whether I2 hardwars was used in
connection with the surgery,

Overt Act No. 20: Ag part of the emzil chain identified

in the preceding Overt Act, on or about December 2, 2010, UCC-B gent

an emall to Drobot and Canedc writing, in part, "Based on Jim’'sg

analysis; T believe the corrsct amount we’d owe Dr Obukhoff ia
approximately $431,200.” The email continued with an explanation of
the calculation baged exclusively on the number and type of surgeries
defendant OBUXHOFF performed while the option agreement was in place
and highlighted a formula where defendant OBUKHOFF was paild $15,000
for each lumbar surgery with I2 haxrdware and #10,000 for each
cervical surgery with I2 hardware, or roughly half those amocunts for
the same éurgeries performed without I2 hardwars.

Overt Act NWo, 21: On. or about December 12, 2010, Maxrtin

gsent an emall to Drobot, stating, in part, “Doctor Paguetta
embarrassed me . . . what about & plan B (I was thinking Obukhoff and
Tauber would hit it off) .”

Overt Act Mo, 22: On or about December 13, 2010,

defendant TAUBER emalled Drobot, writing, “I have come to learn a
number of things and I believe Pacific Hospital could benefit
greatly.” He complained abcut Paquette and said “[y]lou may wish to
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manage his practice but I am going to defer to your opinions.” He
also discussed hls referral cf patients to UCC-J, and complained that
» [UCC-J] recently took one of my referrals to TOSH. [Thousand Oaks
Surgical Hospital] when I wanted this done at Pacific and wanted to
participate.” Defendant TAUBER added:
In my opinion, there is enough room for both Justin [Paguette]
and [UCC-J] in the office. I, however, will never do anything

without consulting you, especially aince you essgentially own the

lease. I believe that [UCC-J] could bring far more to Pacific
if he is permitted to participatel[.]

Qvert Act No. 23: On or about april 22, 2011, Martin sent

an emall to Drobot, writing, in part:
Doctor Tauber called me today about Doctor Paguette . . . I told
him about our ongoing meetings with Justin and that we were
considering.other élternatives, I brought up the name of
Obukhoff and he was very receptive; not only becauge he hears he
ig a great surgeon but algo that Obukhoff would mot mind having
Tauber do the éxpert wiltness testimony because I know Sergs
hates that stuff. 8So, Doctor Tauber sent a message to you
saying happy heliday and he is behind you on whatever décision
you make about Paguette. His loyalty is with you.

Overt Act No. 24: On or about May 12, 2011, UCC-E sent an

email to Paguette, stating, in part, “After much thought and

congideration we have decided not to wove forward with your
management agreement. Over the next wonth we will transition the

exiating inventory of patients .to the location of your choice. . .¥

Qvert Act No. 25: Az part of the email chadn identified
in the preceding Overt Act, on or about June 9, 2011, Martin sgent an
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email to UCC-E, writing, in part, “. . . 3 more consults have come in
from Tauber to Paquette which I am holding until we can get
clarification from Mike regarding his promises to [defendant

OBUKHOFF] that he would get the Tauber referrals.”

Overt Act No. 26: On or akout May 24, 2011, Paps gent an

enail to UCC-B attaching a copy of a “Congulting and Business
Development Agrezement,” between Papa and Pacific Hospital, effective
May 1, 2011,

Qvert Act No. 27: On or akout June 8, 2011, UCC-B sent an

email to Drobot,  forwarding an email f£rom Papa. TUCC-B wrote:
Eere 1ls the wmessage from [Papal, the chiro who Ffeeds cases to
[defendant OBUKHOFF]. She is looking for $10,000. I don’t know
how fast we can process a check . . . I will get vou the
contract and other informatlon I have that may be necessary for
a check.

Overt Act No. 28: On or about June 21, 2011, defendant

OBURHOFF performed surgery on patient R.M. at Pacific Hospital, based
on & referral from Papa.

Overt Act No. 29: On or about June 24, 2011, UCC-D sent

an emall to defendant TAUBER wrilting, in part; T geked Linda

Martin] how they wanted the spine referrals handled as pertains to
Paguette and Obukoff . . . here 1p her reply:
. Drobot would like Doctor Tauber to refer some cases to Dr
Obukhoff ag well as Paguette, For example, Jp [Paguette] ils
getting so budy w hi[s] cutside offices he is puttlng cur {your)
patients on ﬁhé back burner. He has 3 consults'from you who
have been wzliting a month to zee him and he_tried to cancel
again Monday until I stepped im . . . Dr O [defendant OBUKHOFF]
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on the other hand rarely r/a [reschedules] unlsas for a real
surglical] emergency. 8o, perhaps dividing it up a bit might
keep [Pagquettel focused but, uwltimately, our only goal‘is to
make sure it gete to the hosplital.] So JET [defendant TAUBER]
ghould refer to whlom]ever he prefers. However, remember we are
going to be doing PTP [primary treating physician] work and we
are anticipatihg 80 {defendant CBUKHOFF] will get ortho cases to

refer to JET [defendant TAUBER] o I believe the relationsghip

will eventually be more reciprocal than with JP [Paquette].

Overt Act No. 30: On or about July 7, 2011, defendant

TAUBER emalled Martin and copied UCC-D, writing, in part:
I know you have been working on getting me to join the MPN’s.
However, we have neot heard anything and I have a number of
patientg whe want surgeries that I am unéble to book yét, as a
rasult of my non-mewbership thus diminishing my Pacific Hospital
numbers. So, essentially, wy patients are suffering, my Pacific
numbers are not what they could be, etc. What should T do?
Should I request applications directly?

Overt Act No, 31: Cn ox about July 14, 2011,. defendant

TRUBER sent Drobot and email with the subject “lease,” writing,
“Please let me know what 1s happening. Thanks.”

Overt Act No. 32: On or about July 21, 2011, defendant

TAUBER emailed Martin and UCC-D, writing, in part,
I can assure you that my cases that are accepted at
Faclfic will be done at Pacific, whether it is Paquette, [UCC-K]
(who I am trying to lure over), [UCC-Jl, or Obukhoff. In fact,
I was upset that [UCC-J] tock a great cage of mine to TOSH
instead of Pacific. That case came in for high six figures in
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the pettlement. I did fell Sr. and Jr. that I want the sublease
.extended.
Later in the same email, defendant TAUBER wrote, “I intend to direct
cases to Dr. Obukhoff and establish a relationship, but part of the
igsue 1s that I have plugged Paquette with so many attorneve. I will
do what I can for a transition.”

Overt Act No. 33: As part of the email chain in the

precéding Overt Act, on or about July 21, 2011, Martin replied to
defendant TAUBER and UCC-D, writing, in part, “Thanks so much for
your gupport. I spoke with Mr. Drobot and he has renewed the office
subleage ag you agreed when you met.”

Overt Act No. 34; Ag part of the emall chain in the

preceding two Overt Acts, on or about July 21, 2011, UCC-D emalled
defendant TAUBER, stating, in part, *I am thrilled to see they
renewed the lease!l”

Overt Act No. 35: On or about July 23, 2011, defendant

TAUBER sent an email to Paguette, writing, in part, “We need to speak
regarding the office. I was advised that as of July 1, your rent was
‘not covered.’. Clearly, we have to work out a remtal agreement.”

Overt Aot No. 36: Ag part of the emall chain in the

precading Overt Act, but several emails later in the chain, on or
about July 28; 2011, defendant TAUBER emailed Martin writing, in
part, “Thank you for dinner. It was a lovely evening and I believa
things will work out well. I am so excited I was able to ‘glve such a
good referral to Dr. [O]bukhoff. I also wanted to remind you about
the lease extension.”

Cvert Act No. 37;: Ag part of the email chain identified,

in the previous two Overt Acts, on or about July 28, 2011, Martin
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replied to defendant TAUBER writing, in part, “I woke up einging this
morning because I was so happy about our dinner. I knew you and Dr O
[defendant OBUXHOFF] would hit it off . . .# “Now we go to work. I
am on the sublease. Will keep you posted.”

Overt Adt No. 38: On or about July 25, 2011, defendant

TAUBER texted Paquette, writing, im part, “Did u get my emall on
gat?”

Overt Act No. 39:; On or about July 25, ams part of the

text message exchange referenced in the preceding Overt Act, Paguette
texted defendant TAUBER, writing, “Right on. I &id gst vour email.

Drobot did say he would pay the rent as I wag doing a lot of cases at

pacdific, but we definitely need to sit down and get evérything
organized . . .7

Overt Act No. 40; On or about July 25, 2011, as part of

the text message exchangsa identified in the two preceding COvert Acts,
defendant TAUBER texted Pagquette, writing, “We neesd to talk. This is
not a text or emall conversation.”.

Overt Act No, 41: On or about July 31, 2011, defendant

TAUBER sent an email to Drobet, Martin, and UCC-D, and wrote that he
will be moving referrals from Paguette to defendant OBUKHOFEF and that
defendant TAUBER lg notifying his referral sources of this change,

Overt Act No. 42: On or about August 1, 2011, defendant

TAUBER sent an emall tce Drobhot highlighting that defendant TAUBER
referred a spinal surgery cage to UCC-K and “made 1t clear that T
wanted it done at PHLB.*

Overt Act No. 423: On or about August 2, 2011, a8 part of

the emall chain identified in the preceding Overt Acts, Drobot
regponded to defendant TAUBER and thanked him for the referral and
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sald “I would like to get more of your spine referralpg from both o[f]
your offices, either to [UCC-K] or one of my sgpine physicians. I
belisve that [UCC-K] is taking your cases elsewhere. I would prefer
to usge our I2 implants.” Drcbot added that UCC-B “is preparing an
agreemeni to extend our lease on your BH [Beverly Hills] office.”

Overt Act No. 44: Cn or about August 2, 2011, as part

of the emall chain identified in the preceding two Overt Acts,
defendant TAUBER replied *(UCC-K] is xnot taking my cases elsewhere
any longer. I have made that clear.”

Overt Act No. 45: On or about Augusf 2, 2011, defendant

TAUBER emailed Paquette, writing, in paxt:
With respect to our meetlng lasgt Monday night, I wanted to
memorialize a few thoughte. The rent was going to be 37000 per
month for use of the office on Mondays. If you want te change
your day, we need tb speak and make sure that the day is

availlable. Realistically, this should have started on July 1

but I wiil make adjustments with you to be generous on my end.

Overt Act No. 46: O or about November 14, 2011, UCC-D

emalled Martin, writing, in part, "I need two items, please.
November'g rent . . . and I am STILL wailting for a slgned lease
extension.”

Overt Act No. 47: Az part of the emall chain in the

preceding Overt Act, on cor about November 14, 2011, Marﬁin forwarded
the email to UCC-E, writing, in part, “Flease remember that Mike
IDrobot] and Tauber varbally agreed to the lease extengion . . . when
Tauber agreed to move all the cases over to Obukhoff.”

Overt Act No. 48: On or about January 22, 2012, defendant

TAUBER sent an email to Drobot, Martin and UCC-D, writing, in part:
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I wanted to tell vou that I am very pleased with Dr. Cbukhoff.
Additionally, I know that he likes the cases I have referred. I.
am confident that these will be lucrative to Pacific Hospital

in any case, we have not yet received the reﬁt for
January.
I have a number of questions: I have been approached by others
who would like to use the office. TIf it does not interfera with
Dr. Obukhoff’s time, do you have any objections. I don't know
if they will commit for certain but I do not want to “négotiate"
unless this is acceptable. Additionally, I do not know how long
g commitment you or Dr. Obukhoff went to make to the officel.]
I did three work comp total knees at Pacific on Friday (the last
wag a revision).

Cvert Act No. 49: As part of the email chain in the

prededing Overt Act, on cor about January 22, 2012, Drobot replied to
defendant TAUBER and copied Martin, writing, in part:
I will check on the rent and get you a check tomorrow. I lknow
that [a competiter] is trying to get your spines, and I prefer
that he not use the office. Let’s have dinner this week in
{(Beverly Hills) . . . Let’'s sgee what 1t takes to keep the
current arrangement

Overt Act No. 50: Ag part of the email chain in the

preceding two Cvert Acts, on or about January 22, 2012, defendant
TAUBER replied, writing, in part, “First, I am committed to you,
Serge Obukhoff, and PHLE . ., .7 * . . . there is no way my cases go
elsewhere as long as we work together. Clearly, I would like a long
term commitment.”

Overt Act No. 5l1: On or about April 15, 2012, defendant
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TAURER performed gurgery on patient C.N. at Pacific Hoapital, based
on a Sokol Referral.

Overt Act No. 52: On cr about June 9, 2012, based on a

referral from Papa, defendant OBUKHOFF performed surgery on patient
I1.G. at Pacifid Hospital.

Overt Act No., 53 Cn or about June 27, 2012, Sobol and

defendant TAUBER causad HACLA to ilgsue check number 36753, in the

amount of $27,424 .21, for reimbursement of the c¢laim related to the

hospital-billing compecnent for patient C.N., who defendant TAUBER
performed surgery on at Pacific Hospital on or about April 16, 2012,
baged on a Sobol Referral.

Qvert Act No. 54: Cn or about July 3, 2012, baged on a

referral from defendant TAUBER, defendant OBUKHOFF performed surgery
cn patient O.C. at Pacific Hospital.

Overt Act No. 55: On or about July 20, 2012, Travelers

Ingurance malled check number 82753548 tc Pacific Hogpital, in the
amount of $34,372.393, for reimbugsement of the élaim related to the
hospital-billing component of the medical treatment for patient I.G.,
who defendant OBUKHOFF performed spinal surgery on at Pacific
Hogpitel, based on a referral from Papa.

Overt Act No. 56: On or about Augtst 1, 2012, defendant

TAUBER sent an emall tc Drobot and wrote “I am pleasad to note that
Dr. Chukhoff has dome a substantial number of cages thalt are my
referrals with work ccomp and federal work comp coverage at PHLB.”

Qvert Act No. 57: On or about August 2, 2012, defendant

OBUKHOFE caused the submission of a billing claim related to medical

services provided to patient A.P. at Papa’s Sherman Osks clinic.
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Overt Act No, 58: Cn or about August 21, 2012, co-

cenaplirators caused PSEM to issue check number 9990 for $47,413.60 to
defendant TAUBER.

Overt Ach No. 59; Cn or shout September 11, 2012,

defendant OBUXHOFF performed surgery on patient A.P. at Pacific
Hospital, based on a referral from Papa.

Overt Act No. &60: On or about November 15, 2012, the

United Stated Treasury lssued check number 403015419661 to Pacific
Hospital, in the amount of $52,472.58, of which $2%,909.38 was
reimbursement related to the hoapital-billing component of the
medical treatment for patlent ©.C., who defendant OBUXEOFF performed
spinal surgery on at Pacific Hospital, based on a referral from

defandant TAUBER.

Overt Act No. 61: On various unknown dates in 2012, UCC-F
maintained a spreadshest with s tab for surgeries performed by

various surgeons each month. On thisg gpreadsheet, surgeries

performed by defendant OBUKHOFF were tracked each month, including
the patient name, patilent referral scurce, surgery daﬁe, hospital
charges, hospital collections, and the type of surgery, with specific
notations for lumbar and cervieal spinal surgeriesz, and utilizatilon
of I2 hardware, amcng other data. Referral sources for patilents on
which defendant OBUKOFF performed surgeries included defendant
THUBER, Papa, 8obol, and others.

Overt Act No. 52: Op or about Januaxry 3, 2013, UCC-F

created a spreadsheet to reconclle payments from PSPM to defendant
CBUKHOFF in 2012 with what was otherwise owed applying a
$15,000/410,000 formula tc defendant OBURHOFF's respective lumbar and
cervical surgeries performed during 2012.' The sgpreadsheet calculated
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gpurgerles performed by defendant OBUKHOFF at Pacilfic Eospital each

month during 2012, the payment “due” to defendant OBUKHOFF for the

gurgeries, less payments made to certaln referralg sources related to
defendant OBUKHOFF. The calculatlion deterwmined that defendant
OBUKOFF was overpaild $190,000.

Overt Act No. 63: On or about January 3, 2013, Golden

Eagle Insurance mailed check number 0882086 to Pacific Hospital, in
the .amount of $33,021.27, for reimbursement of the claim related to
the hospital-billing component of the medical treatment for patient
A.P., who defendant OBUKHOFF performed spinal surgery on at Pacific
Hogpital, basged on a reifierral from Papa.

Overt Act No. 64: On or about January 9, 2013, defendant

OBUKHOFF caused the submission of a billing claim related to medical
servicee provided to patient A.P. at defendant TAUBER's Beverly Hills
office.

Overt Act WNo., 65: On or about February 11, 2013, Scbol

emalled Probot Jr., and Drobot-writing, "gsince I have not gotten any
regponge and am not getting $, it looks like I should probably cancel
all purgery and referrals.”

Overt Act No. 66: Cn or about March 29, 2012, defendant

TAURER' s office manager emailed Martin writing, in part, “I'm missing
rent check for February, March & Aprll.”

Overt Aot No. 67: As part of the email chain in the

preceding Overt Act, on or about March 30, 2013, defendant TAUBER
emailed his office manager, Drobkot, and defendant OBUKHOFF, writing,
in part, “Linda Martin has not worked for Mr. Drobot for a long time.

I am copying him above. Michael, Happy Raster. My office manager
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has just advised that the rent was not paid for Feb., March, and
Aprll.”

Overt Act No. &8: As part of the email chain in the

preceding two Overt Acte, on or about Mazch 30, 2012, Drobot
responded to defendant TAUBER, writing, “wWill check on Monday .
and catch you up.” ‘

Overt Aot No. 68: After gearch warrants were executed at

Pacific Hospital in April 2013, on'én unknown date during the summer
of 2013, Drobot and defendant OBUKHOFF met at L‘Opera restaurant in
Long Beach, California, to discuss how to explain why Drobot paid
defendant OBUKHOFF’g rent at defendant TAUBER's Beverly Hill’s
office, despite no contractual or legal basis to do go. During the
meeting, Drobot and defendant OBUKHOFF discuzsged creating a backdated
agreement to provide a cover story for the rent payments PSPM
provided to defendant TAUBER for the benefit of defsndant OBUKHOFE.

Qvert Act No. 70: Following the meeting identified in the

preceding Overt Act, on an unknown date, Drobot caused to be drafted
a “Physician Development Agreement,” wrltten to purportedly be
“entered into this filrst day of October, 20107 that falsely re-
characterized PSPM's historical rent payments to defendant TAUBER as
a loan to defendant OBUKHOFF, which defendant OBUKHOFF would
purportedly repay under the terms of the “Physiclan Development
Agreement,” and the promissory note attached to t{he agreement,

Overt Act No. 71: Folleowing the delivery of the

“Physician Development Agreement” ildentified in the preceding Overt
Act to defendant OBUKHOFF, on an unknown date, Drobot and OBUKHORF
discussged not executing the draft conbract because any legitimate
agreement actually created prior to April 2013 would have been seilzed
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by law enforcement in connection with the April 2013 gearch warrants
executed at PHLE.

Overt Act No, 72: On oxr about January 29, 2014, Drobot,

defendant OBUKHOFF, Papa, and otherg caused SCIF to mail check number
CT-365625 to Pacific Hospital, in the amount of $73,833:27, for
reimbursement of the claim related to the hospital-billing component
cf the medical care provided to patient J.A., who Papa referred to

defendant OBUKHOFF,
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COUNT TWC
{18 U.8.C. & 371]
 36. Paragraphs 1 through 30 of this Indictment, including all
subparagraphg, are re-alleged and incorporated by reference ag if

fully set forth herein.

A. ADDITIONAL INTRODUCTORY ALLEGATICNS

37. Defendant TAUBER entered into an in-office pharmacy
digpensing agreement first with CPM, apd later, IPM, providing for
the operation and management of a pharmacy dispensing program at
defendant TAUBER's Beverly Hills and Glendale medical cffices.

38, Defendant TAUBER's pharmacy agreement with IPM, as of at
least 2009, was a claims purchase agreement (the “Pharmacy Dispensing
Agreement”) entitling Drobot Jr., through IPM, to all of defendant
TAUBER’ & in-~office pharmacy dispensing-rélated accounts receivablas
(i.e., collections on medicines dispensed from defendant TAUBER's

offices) in exchange for a monthly payment.

B. ORJECTY OF THE CONSPIRACY

39. Beginning on an unknown date, but no later than in or about

May 2008, and continuing through at least in or about April 2013, in
Orange and Los Angeles Counties, within the Central District of
California, and elsewheré, defendant TAUBER, Drobof Jr., and others
known and unknown to the Grand Jury at varicus times, Xnowingly
ccmbined, conspired, and agreed to commit the following cffenses
‘against the Unlted States:

a. Honest serviced mail and wire fraud, in violation of
Title 18, United States Code, Sectlons 1341, 1343, and 1346;

b. TUse of the mails and interstate facilities in aid of
bribery, in viclation of‘Title 18, United States Code, Section
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1952 (a) ;

o. Knowingly and willfully soliciting or recelving
remuneration in return for referring an individual for the furnishing
and arranging for the furnishing of any item or service, and in
return for arranging for and recommending purchasing or ordering any
good, service, or item, for which payment may be made in whole or in
part under a federal health care program, in violation of Title 42,

Tnited States Code, Section 1320a-7b(b}) (1}; and

d. Knowingly and willfully offering to pay or paying any
remuneration to any person to induce such person to refer an
individual for thé furnishing and arranging for the furnishing of any
itém or service, and to arrange for and recommend purchasing or
ordexring any good, service, or item, for which payment may be made in
whole or in part under a federal health care program, in wviolation of

Title 42, United States Code, Section 1320a-7b (b} (2).

C. MANNER AND MEANS OF THE CONSPIRACY

40, The cbjects of the conspiracy were to be carried out, and

were carried out, in the fellowing ways, among others:

&. Drobot Jr. would own and oﬁérate, at least in part,
both IPM and APS.

b. For the benefit of APS and Affilistes, Drobot Jr.
would use IPM to‘offer to pay and pay kickbacks and bribes in
exchange for the referral, purchasing, and ordering of DME, MRIs, and
TR/UDT (collectively, the “Kickback Tainted Ancillary Services”) from
defendant TAUBER and othexrs. -

o Defendant TAUBER would soliecit and recelve kickbacks
and bribes in exchange for the referral, purchasing, and ordering of
Kickback Tainted Ancillary Services that would be billed to health
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care benefit programs, subject to personal injury claims, and/or
subject to liens.

d. Influenced by the promise of kickbacks and bribes,
defendant TAUBER would refer, purchase, .and order Kickback Tainted
Anoillary Services provided by APS Affiliates, which were insured by
various health care bensfit programs, subject te personal injury
claims, and/cr subject to liens,

e. APS Affiliates would submit claims, or cause claims to
be submitted, by mail and electronically, to health care benefit

programg and perdonal injury law firms or attorneys (collectively,

“potential Claim Payers”) for payments related to the Kickback
Tainted Ancillary Services.

£. As defendant TAUBER, Drobot Jr., and others knew and
intended, and as was ressonably foreseeable to them, in using,
cauging, and aiding and abetting the uese of, the mails, wire
communications, and facilitlies in interstate commerce to:
(1) communicate about the Kickback Tainted Ancillary Services,
(11) submit ciaims o Potentilal Cladm Payerg for the Kickback Tainted
Ancillary Services, and (iii) cbtain payment from Potential Claim
Pavers for the Kickback Tainted Ancillary Services,‘defendant TAUBER
would solicit and receive kickbacks and bribes, which would be
makterial to patients anéd Potential Claim Payers.

. In soliciting and receiving concealed kickbacks and
bribes to induce the raferral, purchase, and ordering of the Kickback

Tainted Ancillary Services in connectlon with APS and Affiliates,

defendant TAUBER and other medical professionals would deprive

patients of their right to homnest services.

34




i et —n

10
11
12

13

14

15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26

27

T 28

Case 8:18-cr-00140-DOC  Document 1 Filed 07/12/18 Page 35 of 65 Page ID #:35

' h. Potentlal Claim Payers would pay APS Affiliates for
the Kickback Tainted Ancillary Services by mall and electronically,
and APS Affiliates would compensate APS.

i. To conceal the foregoing kickback and bribe'payments
from Potential Claim Payers, patients, and law enforcement, Drcbot
Jr. and defendant TAUBER wculd. use the’ Pharmacy Dispensing Agreement
as a vehicle to pay and receive such kickback and bribe payments, As
part of the concealment, {a) IPM would have no publicly disclosged
relationship with AP8; and (b) the IPM Pharmacy Dispensing Agreement,

as written, would not account for, address, or otherwlse involwve

compensation from IPM to defendant TAUBER for referring, purchasing,
and ordering DME, MRIs, and UA/UDT for hils patients.

3. ‘In reality, however, defendant TAUBER would receive
monthly'payments from IPM -- purportadly for dispensed medications --
that would, in Ffact, take into account defendant TAURER's expected
referralsg, purchases, and orders of the Kickback Tainted Ancillary
Services. For example, based on defendant TAUBER's August 2011
agreement with Drobot Jr. concerning UA/UDT businegs for APS and APS
Affiliate B, Drobot Jr. caused IFM to increase defendant TAUBER'sg
monthly payments under the IPM Pharmacy Dispensing Agreement -
purportedly for the dispensing of pharmaceuticals -- f£rom $8,000 to
415,000 monthly. In other instances, in exchange for defendant
TAUBER’ @ promise of using APS Affiliate A for DME, Drobot Jr. would
not adversely adjust defendant TAUBER's monthly payments under the
Pharmacy Dispensing Agreement that would otherwise be. lowered if the
value of Kickback Tainted Ancillary Services to APS and Affiliates

wag not congidered.
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k. Drobot Jr., defendant TAUBER, and others would

malntaln, review, and/or communilcate about the volume of the Kickback
Tainted Ancillary Services to justify the Eonthly kickback and bribe
payments for Kickback Teinted Ancillary Services dlsguilzed under the
IPM Pharmacy Dispensing Agreement; and adjust the monthly payments
accordingly,

L. EFFECTS OF THE CONSPIRACY

41, Had Potentizl Claim Payers and patients known the true
facts regarding the payment of kilckbacks and bribes for the referral
of Kickback Tainted Ancillary Services: (a) the Potential Claim
Payers would have subljected the ¢laims to additional review; would

not have paid the claims; or would have paid a lesgser amount on the

clainme; and (b} patients would have more cleosely scrutiniwzed a
hospital service, product purchase, or apecimen collection for
laboratory testing; would have sought treatment from physicians who
did not have a financial conflict of interest; would not have had the
serviée, purchage, or tesgt; or would have ingisted on a different
provider,
E. OVERT ACTS

42. On or about the following dates, in Ffurtherance of the
congpiracy and to accomplish the objects of the conspiracy, defendant
TAUBER, Drcbot Jr., UCC;G, UCC-~-D, and other co-consplrators knowsn and
unknown to the Grand Jury, committed, willfully cauwsed others To
commit, and aided and abetted the commission of the followlng ovext
acts, among cthers, within the Central District of California and
elsewhere:

Overt Act No. 1: On or about May 20, 2008, an IPM

financial officer sent an email to Drobot Jr, noting that defendant

36
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TAUBER'g $15,000 menthly advance appeared “high based on pharmacy
alone. I assume there are other marketing factoras at play.”

Overt Act No. 2: Ag part cf the same email chain

ldentified in the preceding Overt Act, Drobot Jr. replied, “yes,
there are other things [than just pharmacy alone] .”

Overt Act No. 3: On an unknown date, Drobot Jr. and

dafendant TAUBER executed an additicnal “Amendment to Physician
Office Dispensing Program Mahagement Agreement,” which set forth an
internal effective date of January 29, 2009, and converted the
January 3, 2005 Physician Office Dispensing Program Management
Agreement to a “Claims Purchase and Assignment” Agrgement (i.e., the
Pharmacy Dispensing Agreement). The amendment Ffurther provided for
monthly payments from IPM of $12,500 to JET, M.D., APC.

Overt Act No. 4: On or about March 10, 2009, an

additional amendment to Pharmacy Dispensing Agresment decdreased the

monthly claime purchase payment amount to $10,000.

Overt Act No. 5 On February 18, 2010, Drobot Jr. gent
an email to UCC-G and an IPM financial oEficer advising that Drobot
Jr. had dinner with defendant TAUBHER the previous might. Drobot Jx.
added that:

[Dlue to the cash loss IEM ls experiencing wiph his medlication
dispenging] program, [defendant TAUBER] will increase ﬁis DME
(currently at $4700/mo[nth] gross charges) to a target of

410,000/mo [nthl . [Defendant TAUBER] will also guarantee ug 10-

15 MRIs a month as long as they are sent to Rad Net.

of IPM gent an emall to Drobolt Jr. writing that she would be meeting
with defendant TAUBER the following day to discuss MRIs., Ths IPM

37
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employee inguired: “Is there anything you want me to concentrate on
gpecifically?” .

Overt Act No. 7: Ag part of the emall chain identified

in the preceding Overt Act, on or about March 15, 2010, Drobot Jr.
replied: “MRIs and [defendant TAUBER] is supposed to kick up his
[DME] order with [APS Affiliate A].”

Cvert Act No., 8: On or about April 2, 2010, an IPM

employese sgent an emall to Drobot Jr. writing, “Dr. Tauber has only
referred 1 MRI since we started a little over a week ago. You might
want to call him if he is supposed to be giving ug 10/monthly?”

Overt Act No. 9: As part of the emall chain identified

in the preceding Overt Act, on or about April 2, 2010, Drobot Jr.

forwarded the emaill to defendant TAUBZR and stated, “Dr. Tauber, is

there anything on our side that is holding up the MRIs?”

Overt Act No. 10: As part of the email chain in the

preceding two Overt Acts, which was Fforwarded to defendant TAUBER, on
or about April 2, 2010, defendant TAUBER replied, *I have begun.”

Ovart Act No, 11: On or about May 10, 2010, Drobot Jr.

emailed defendant TAUBER writing, in part, “We also spoke about
increasing DME and MRI. Please let me know.”l Drobot Jr. then emailed
an IPM employee and wrote, "“please work with Tauber’s office to
ensure we gelt the pcang [MRIg] to the right places.” Drobot Jr.
later forwarded this emall chain to defendant TAUBER, asking
defendant TAUBER For his assistance.

Overt Act NWo. 12: On oxr aboub June 22, 2010, Drobot Jr.,

UCC—G, a representative from APS Affiliate B, and an IPM filnancial

officer sent emalls to each other regarding defendant TAUBER's lack
of DME referrals. TUCC-@ wrote: “[Drobot Jr.)? Any suggestions? T
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]

could call [defendant TAUBER] but & is the only thing that works with
him.”

Overt Act No. 13: Ag part of the email chain identified

in the preceding Overt Act, on or about June 22, 2010, Drckot Jr.
requested that an IPM financial officer amend defandant TAUBER's
Pharmacy Dispensing Agreement te “lower him to $8k Iper month] .”

Overt Act No. 14: Ag part of the smail chailn identified

in the preceding two Overt Acts, on or about June 22, 2010, an IPM
financial offlcer wrote, referring to the value of defendant TAUBER's
in-office dispensing of medications to IPM, “His pharmacy is worth
S5k at mqst. .o

Overt Act No. 15;: On or about June 22, 2010, defendant

TAUBER sgent an emall to Dreohot Jr. with the subject line “contract,”
writing that he left Drobot Jr. several megsages and wanted to epeak
with him.

Overt Act No. 16; As part of the email chain identified

in the preceding Overt Act, on oxr about June 23, 2010, defendant

TAUBER emailed Drobot Jr., writing, in part:
[W]e only recently instituted the PI drug program and I have
been prescribing substantially as that part of my practice has
increased. Also, I have attempted to turn you on to other MD's
but never heard from you. B&lgo, there are others coming into my
offices and I believe there is yet more oppoftunity for you.
These are mabters we need to discuss pergonally rather than via
email,

Overt Act No. 17: Ag part of the email chain identified

in the preceding two Overt Acts, on or about June 24, 2010, Drobot
Jr. replied to defendant TAUBER clarifying: “Yes, I agree. My
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inguiry is solely about DME. You mentioned you would participate a
little more which has not happened. If you can, then we have no
problems.”

Cvert Act No. 18: Az part of the email c¢hain identified

in the preceding three QVert‘Acts, on or about June 25, 2010, a
representative for APS Affiliate A informed Drobot Jr., UCC-E, and
others that defendant TAUBER’sS Beverly Hills office “hasn’t ordered
in several monthas, peessibly 5-6 orders in the entire last year,” and
added that “[1]f he wants to start oxdering from Beverly Hills,
great. He can start w/ using us on his spine cases he refers to
{ucc-J], not to mention stim on all his work comp pte.”

Overt Act Wo, 109: Ag part of the email chain identifiled

in the preceding four Overt Acts, on or about June 25; 2010, Drobot
Jr. emailed defendant TAUBER writing, “Dr. Tauber, are you willing to
order [APS Affiliate A] on at least [UCC-J] referrals, ete? This

would make things sasler and we would not make any cuts. Plesase let

me know 1f this ig possible.”

Overt Act No. 20: As part of the email chain in the

preceding five Overt Acts, on or about June 25, 2010, defendant
TAUBER replied to Drobot Jr. writing, ®“As long as [UCC-J] gaess along.
I will £alk to him.”

Overt Act No. 21: Ag part of the email chain in the

preceding six Overt Acts, on or about June 28, 2010, Drobot Jr.

emalled UCC-G and a representative from APS Affiliate A writing,
"Tet’a -hold his feet to the fire and make gure this gets domne
immediately” .

Overt Act No, 22: On or abouk November 21, 2010, Drobot

Jr. emailed an IPM financial officer reguesting that he put a profit

40




10

11

12

13

14

15

1l

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Case 8:18-cr-00140-DOC  Document 1 Filed 07/12/18 Page 41 of 65 Page ID #:41

sheet together with the year-to-date information on defendant
TAUBER'E account because Drobot Jr. “want(z) to show him that we are
losging in order to cut him to $8,000.%

Overt Act No. 23: On or about Decamber 10, 2010, IPBM

issued check pumber 7691 for $8,000 to JET, M.D., ARC.

Cvert Act Wo. 24: On or about August 16, 2010, Drobot Jr.

gent an emaill to multiple IPM employees and a representative with APS
Affiliate A, writing, in part, that Drobot Jr. just spoke to
defendant TAUBER who “is willing to give us some MRI and DME.”

Overt Act Neo. 25: On or about July 10, 2011, Martin

emailed Drobot writing, in part:.

I have been having ongoiﬁg discugsiong with Doctor Tauber
gnd his manager, [UCC-D], regarding upcoming Urine Analysis
Program. Unfortunately, so hag [Drobeot Jr.]. [Drckot Jr.] iz
representing things to [defendant TAUBER] that you should
address., I have tried my best to explain the legalities of the

programs but 1t’s not enough .

Overt Act No. 26: On or about July 10, 2011, IPM iszued

check number 8873 for $8,000 to JET, M.D., APRC.

Overt Act No. 27; On or about July 11, 2011, UCC-G
emailed Drobot Jr. and notified him that Drobeot was soliciting

defendant TAUBER to rafer his toxlicology business to Drobot’s

competing company, rather than through APS, and is “offering to pay
rent for Tauber.”

Overt Act No. 28: As part of the emall chain identified

in the preceding Overt Act, on or about July 11, 2011, Drobot Jr.
replied that Drobot “is already péying rent . . . but that is for the
apines, nothing else . . . Dad would need to add something for Tauber
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LM UCC-G responded:  “Tauber sgald that he will offer more for
renb?ee”

Qvert Act No. 28: As part of the emall chain identified

in the preceding twoe Overt Acts, on or about July 11, 2011, Drobct

Jr. replied to UCC-G, writing, in part, “Too bad we already have a

deal . . . and RENT is NOT the most legal way to do this . . . our
pharm contract is . . . besides we will offer more.”
Overt Agt No. 30: Oon or about July 14, 2011, Drcbot Jr.

met with defendant TAUBER and UCC-D to dlscusgs capturing defendant
TAUBER' & UR/UDT veferrals through APS.

Overt Act Wo. 31: Ag part of the meeting described in the

preceding Overt Act, Drobet Jr. provided defendant TAUBER and IPM
check (#8935) for §7,000.

QOvert Act No. 32: On or about July 16, 2011, Drobot Jr.

emalled defendant TAUBER, writing, in part, "We would still love to

show you a first class UDT program . . . Pleage let me knowl.]"

Overt Act No. 323: On or about July 21, 2011, UCC-D gent

an email to defendant TAUBER, writing, in part, *I think I [should]
wait to cash [Drobot Jr.’g] clheclk [referring to check number 8935
for £%,000] until we have something in writing about the lease
what do ylolu think?”

Overt Act No. 34: On or about August 2, 2011, Martin sent

an emall to Drobot and wrote that she had spoken with defendant
TAUBER “regarding the UA but he is still torn betwsen our program and
Michael Jr.’s.” Martin added that “we again discussed the legalities
of each program and he has decided he is going to ask Michael to
produce a written legal opinion that his program does not wviolate
STARK.”
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Overt Act No., 35 On or about Aungust 2, 2011, defendant

TAUBER sent an ewail to Drobot Jr. requesting a legal opinion that
would say that Drobot Jr.’s toxicology program ig *legal” and “does
not wiolate Stark.”

Cvert Act No. 36: On or about August 9, 2011, defendant

TAUBER emailed Drobot Jr. regarding “ua” and wroke, “your dad
esgentially gave me the go ahead to do this with you. I still would
like a legal opinion that it is legal.”

Overt Act No. 37: On or about August 22, 2011, Drobot Jr.

emalled defendant TAUBER an opinion letter from an attorney regarding
“unT, ” and agked if it was sufficient to “move forward.” The
attached legal opinion, dated August 21, 2011, discussed an
arrangement involving APS and APS Affiliate B, without any
discusslon, reference, or aoknowledgement of IPM or defendant TAUBER.

Overt Act No. 38: On or sbout August 26, 2011, Drobot Jr.

gmalled IPM employess writing, in part, “Tauber jugt told me we are a
go with UDT, just need to send him the signed amend [ment] again.”

Overt Act No. 39: On or about August 26, 2011, Drobot Jr.

emalled defendant TAUBER a contract amendment to the Pharmacy
Digpensing Agreement to provide that, purportedly effective October
1, 2011, IPM “ghall purchase all pharmaceutical claims arising from
Physician’s Dispensing Program for the sum of Fifteen Thousand

Dollars ($15,000) per month.”

Overt Act No. 4Q: On or abcout September 2, 2011,
dafendant TAUBER caused IPM check number 8935 for $7,000, dlgsued on
July 14, 2011, to be deposited dnto defendant TAUBER’s 3002 PacWest

Banlk Acat.
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Overt Act No. 471: On or about EBeptember 10, 2011, IEM

igsued check number 9319 for §15,000 to JET, M.D., APC.

Overt Act No. 42: 'On or about September 22, 2011, an IPM

employee emailed other IPM employses noting that defendant TAUBER

would gtart UA/UDT testing in his @lendale office on Cotober 6, 2011
and hia Beverly Hills office on October 11, 2011.

Overt A¢t Wo. 43: On or about October 10, 2011, IPM

lgeued check number 948% for §15,000 to JET, M.D., APC.

Overt Act No. 44: . On or about October 17, 2011, employees

at APS Affiliate B emalled Drobot Jr. and otherg a tally of the
UA/UCT tests performed at defendant TAUBER's offices.

Overt Act No. 45: On or about Octobear 20, 2011, defendant

TAUBER emalled Drobot’ Jr. with the subject “urine” and asked for a
sample letter that he could send insurance companies indleating that
defendant TAUBER reviewed each urilne test, In reaponge, Drobot Jr.
referred defendant TAUBER to ancther IPM employes for asgsistance and
wrote, “I believe what you arellooking for is called a supplemental
report which allows you to bill and [silc] extra $151 per cup on your
[profeassional] billings.¥

Overt Act No. 46: On or about November 30, 2011, an

employse at APS Affiliate B sent an emall to Drobot Jr. inguiring

whether thers were any new accounts, and if defendant TAUBER was the

lagt new account.

Overt BAcot No. 47: 2z part of the emaill chain identified

in the preceding Overt Act, on or about Wovember 30, 2011, Drobot Jr.
replied, writing, *“ves, working omn them. Most importantly [sic] iz

keeplng the ones we have . . . these guys are becoming very gready.”
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Cvert Act WNo. 48: On or about January 22, 2012, defendant

TAUBER emalled Drobot Jr. with the subject “urine testing,” writing:
You would not belleve how many people have apprcached me in the
last 2 weeks over this. 2all are qguestioning if I am collecting
enough. This ig just exploding. Clearly, when this is so
rampant, it won’t last so hay needs to be made while the sun is
shining.

Qvert hct No. 49; On or about December 27, 2012, Drobot

Jr. and defendant TAUBER caused a payment to be sent from the United
States Treasury to APS Affiliate B, of which 81,219.60 was for
relmbursement of the c¢laim related to the toxicoleogy billing in
connection with patient 0.C,, for whom defendant TAUBER ordered
UA/UDT on or about December 8, 2012,

Overt Act No. 50:  On or about January 2, 2013, an IPM

financial officer sent an email to defendant TAUBER’s office manager,
writing that IPM would be billing in-office dispensed medications

under defendant TAUBER's name and tax identification number for all

dates of service after December 31, 2012. Attached to the email was
a gpunmary spreadsheet of the IPM agreement with defendant TAUBER for
2012. The spreadsheet showed wmonthly collections and subtracted out
monthlf expenses asgsoclated with the program, which included the
515,000 per momth that was paid to defendant TAUBER purportedly only
for pharmaceutical claims. The balance of the account at the end of
2012 was a debt of $172,543 .66, indicating that IPM had logt this
amount. of money on the account since the inception of the Pharmacy
Dispensing Agreement (without taking intc account the value of

Kickback Tainted Ancillary Services provided by APS Affiliates).

45




v —L e

10
11
12
i3
14
15
16
17
is
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

28

ICase 8:18-cr-00140-DOC  Document 1 Filed 07/12/18 Page 46 of 65 Page ID #:46

Overt Act No. 51: On or about April 16, 2013, Drobot Jr.

gsent an email to defendant TAUBER, copying an attorney for IEM.
Drobot Jr. wrote:
Dr. Tauber, per our meeting today thig emall will memorizlize
our agreement to terminate the medication management agresment

no later than April 30, 2013 . . , Again, it is with great

to drastic financial difficulties caused by new regulations in

California. I look forward to doing businesa with you in the
future under better circumstances.

Overt Act WNo. 52: On. or about July 23, 2013, defendant

TAURER caused hig offlce manager to emall Drobot Jr. with “the final
involice Ffor Dr. Tauber’s office.” The attached invoilce was for
815,000 per month for ®Rx- Dag 2012,% “Rx-Jan 2013,7 “Rx- Feb 2013,”7

and “Rx-March 2013," for a total of $60,000.

46
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Case 8:18-cr-00140-DOC  Document 1 Filed 07/12/18 Page 47 of 65 Page ID #:47;

COUNTS THREE THEROUGH FIVE
fle U.8.C. 8§ 1341, 1346, 2({b)]
43. Paragraphs 1 through 30 and 32 through 35 of this
Indictment, including all subparagraphg, are re-alleged and
incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

A. THE SCHEME TO DEFRAUD

44, Beginning on a date unknown, but from no later than in or
around 2009, and continuing through at least in or around 2013, in
Orange and Los Angeles Counties, within the Central District of
California, and elsewhere, Drobot, defendants TAUBER and OBUKHOFRF,
and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury at various times,
knowingly and with intent to defraud, devised, participated in, and
executed a scheme to defraud patlents of their right to honest
services of their physiclansg’ performance of duties as treating
physiclans and medical providers by soliciting, offering, accepting,
and paying bribes and kickbacks to induce the referral of Kilckback
Talnted SBurgeries and.Services to RPacific Hogpltal and Affiliated
Entities.

B. OPERATION OF THE SCHEME TO DEFRALD

45. The fraudulent scheme operated, in substance, as set forth
in peragraph 23 of this Indictment, focusing particularly on Tauber

Referrals to defendant OBUKHOFE.

C. TUSE OF THE MATLS

46. On or about the following dates, within the Central
Disgtrict of California, and elgewhere, Drobot, defsndants TAUBER and
OBUKHOFF, and other co-schemers, for the purpose of executing the
above~described;scheme to defraud, willfully caused the following
itemg to be placed in a post office and authorized depository for
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by the Postal Sexrvice, as set forth

COUNT

APPROXIMATE

DATE

MAILING

THREE

08/15/2012

The mailing of a claim for reimbursement
from Pacific Hospital to Undted
Healthceare in Atlanta, Georgia, for the
hogpital-billing component of medical
care provided to patient S.R., based on
a surgery performed by defendant
OBUKHOFF at Paclfic Hospital on or about
July 31, 2012.

FOUR

10/26/2012

Check (#1883474186) from %Furich American
Insurance Company, in the amount of
884,631.19, to Pacific Hogpital for
reinburgement of the claim related to
the hospital-billing component of the
madical care provided to patient D.S.,
who defendant OBUKHOFF performed spinal
gurgery on abt Pacific Hospital on or
about August 7, 2012, based on a
referral from defendant TAUBER.

FIVE

11/15/2012

Check number 403015419661 from the
Unlted States Treasury, in the amount of
552,472.58, to Pacific Hospiltal, of
which 29,909,388 was in reimbursement of
the c¢laim related to the hospital-
billing component of the medical care
provided tc patlent ©.C., who defendant
OBUKHOFF performed apinal surgery on at
Pacific Hospital on or about July 3,
2012, baged on a referral from defendant
TAUBER.
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Case 8:18-cr-00140-DOC Document 1 Filed 07/12/18 Page 49 of 65 Page ID #:49

COUNTS SIX THROUGH ELEVEN
{18 U.5.C, 8B 1343, 1346, 2(1)]
47, Paragraphes 1 through 30 and 33 through 35 of thism
Indigtment, inciuding all subparagraphs, are re-alleged and
ingorporated by referance ag if Fully set forth herein.

A, THE SCHEME TO DEFRAUD

48. Beginning on a date unknown, but from no later than April
2010, and vontinuing through at least in or around August 2013, in

Orange and Los Angeles Counties, within the Central District of

California, and elsewhere, Drobot, defendants TAUBER and OBUKHOFE,
and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, knowingly and with
intent to defraud, devised, participated in, and executed a scheme to
defrzud patients of their right to honest services cf‘éheir
physiciana’ performance of duties as treating physicians and medical
providers by soliciting, offering, accepting, and paying bribes and
kickbacks teo induce the referral of Kickback Talnted Surgeries and
Services to Pacific Hospital and Affiliated Entities.

B, OPERATION QF THE SCHEME TO DEFRAUD

49, The fraudulent scheme operated, in substance, as set forth
in paragraph 33 of this Indictment, focusing particularly on Tauber
Referrals to defendant OBUKHOFF.

c. USE OF INTERSTATE WIEES

50. On or about the fellowing dates, within the Central
Digtriet of California, and elsswhere, Dfobot, defendantg TAUBER and
OBUKHOFF, and other co-~schemers, for the purpose of executing the
above-described scheme to defraud, transmitted and caused the
transmission of items by means of wire communication in interstate
commerce, a8 get forth below:
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Case 8:18-cr-00140-DOC  Document 1 Filed 07/12/18 Page 50 of 65 Page 1D #:50

COUNT APPROXTMATE INTERSTATE WIRE TRANSMISSICN
DATE
Interstate wire through Pederal Reserve
Bank gervers in Dallae, Texas,
effactuating a trangfer of
80,000 from P8PM‘eg 9511 First Citizens
SIX 8/03/2012 Bank Acct to the 80, M.D., APC Wellg
Fargo Bank Acct ending in 0489 in
California (“defendant OBUXHOFF's 0489
WFB Roct”),
Interstate wire through Federal Regerve
_ Bank sexvers in Dallar, Texas,
aeffactuating a trangfer of
SEVEN 8/31/2012 $47,413.60 from PSPM’'g 9511 PFirst
Citizens Bank Acct to defendant TAUBER's
3002 PacWesgt Bank Acct,
Interatate wire through Federal Reserve
Bank gerverg in Dallas, Texas,
effectuating a transfer of
BIGHT 5/28/201.2 $80,000 from PSEM's 9511 First Citizens
Bank Acct to defendant OBUKHCFF's 0489
WEFB Acct,
Intergtate wire through Federal Reserve
Bank servers in Dallas, Texas,
effectuating a transfer of
NINE 10/22/2012 460,000 from PSPM’g 5511 First Citirzena
Bank Acct to defendant CBUKHOFF'za 0489
WFB Acct.
Interstate wirs through Federal Researve
Bank gervers in Dallag, ‘'llexas,
effectuating a transfer of
TEN 11/28/2012 | $23,706.80 from DPSPM's 9511 First
' Citizens Bank Acot to defendant TAUBER's
3002 PacWest Bank BAcct. )
Interstate wire through Federal Resgerve
Bank servers in Dallag, Texas,
effectuating & transfer of
4871,120.40 from First Medical
ELEVEN g/14/2013 Management’s First Citizens Bank Acccunt
ending in 7187 in Califorxnia (“FMM's
7187 First Citizen’s Bank Acct”) to
defendant TAUBER'g 3002 PacWest Bank
Acct,
50
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Case 8:18-cr-00140-DOC Document 1 Filed 07/12/18 Page 51 of 65 Page ID #:51

COUNTS TWELVE THROUGH FOURTEEN
18 U.S.C. § 1952(a) (3); 18 U.8.C. § 2]

51. Paragraphs 1 through 30, 33 through 35, 46, and 50 of this
Indictment, including all subparagraphs, are re-alleged and
incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

52. On or about the dates set forth below, in Orange and Los
Angeles Countles, within the Central District of California, and
elsewhere, Drobot, defendanits TAUBER and QBUKHOF?, and others, used,
aided and abetted the use of, and willfully caused the use of, the
mall and Facilifties in interstate commerce, with the intent to
otherwise promote, manage, establisgh, carry on, and facilltate the
promotion, management, =stablishment, and carrying on of an unlawful
activity, namely, kickbacks and bribes in violatlon of California
Business & Professions Code Section 650 and California Insurance Code
Section 750, and thereafter performed, attempted to perform, and.
aided and abetted and willfully caused the performance of an act to

promote, manage, establish, and carry on, and to facllitate the

promotion, management, establishment, and carrying on of such
unlawiul activity as follows:

ey

/!

/!
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COUNT DATE USHE OF MAIL OR ACTS PERFORMED
FACTLITY IN THEREAFTER
INTERSTATHE COMMERCE
Tnterstate wire On or about Novembar
through Federal 15, 2012, defendants
TAUBER and OBURHOFF
Reserve Bank gervers ot
cauged the mailing of
in Dallas, Texas,
effectuating a check number
4030154195661 from the
tranafer of United State
TWELVE |6/29/12 $23,706.80 from Ao
’ ‘ . Treasury to Pacific
PEPM' g 9511 First . .
L Hospital in the
Citlzens Bank Acct
amount of §52,472.58,
to defendant f which $29,909.38
TAUBER’ 8 3002 Of Wil 202
Paciest Bank Acct wag for reimbursement
’ for the hospital-
illing component of
medical care provided
to patient 0.C.,
based on a surgery
defendant OBUKHOPF
performed at Pacific
Hogpital on or about
July 3, 2012.
Defendants TAUBER and
OBUKHOFF caused the
The waillng of a malling of ¢heck PH
c¢laim fox 84869876 from United
reimbursement f£rom Healthcare Services,
Pacific Hospital te |Inc., in the amount
United Eealthcare in |of $30,574.65, to
Atlanta, Georgia, Pacific Hospital for
for the hospital- reimbursement of the
billing component cf | claim related to the
the medical vare hegpital-billing
provided to patient |component of the
THIRTEEN 08/15/2012 |S8.R., who defendant |medical care provided
OBUKHOFF performed to patient 8.R., who
surgery on at defendant CBUKHOFF
Pacific Hospital on |performed spinal
or about July 31, surgery on at Pacific
2012. Hoespital on or about
' July 31, 2012, based
on a referral from
Tauber.
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fase 8:18-cr-00140-DOC Document 1 Filed 07/12/18 Page 53 of 65 Page 1D #:53

COUNT DATE

USE OF MAIL OR
FACILITY IN
INTERSTATE COMMERCE

ACTS PERFORMED
THEREAFTER

FOURTEEN 10/22/12

Interastate wire
through Federal
Raeserve Bank servers
in Dallag, Texas,
effectuating a
transfer of

#60,000 from PSPM'g
9511 Firest Citizens
Bank Acet to
defendant OBUKHOFF'sg
0489 WFB Acct.

On or about October
26, 2012, defendants
TAUBER and OBUKHORF
caused Zurich to pay
Paclfic Hospital
$84,631.19 for

‘reimburgement of the

claim related to the
hospital-billing
component of the
medical care provided
to patient D.2., who
defendant OBUKHOFF
performed spinal
gurgery on at Pacific
Hospital on or about
August 7, 2012, based
on a referral from
defendant TAUBER.
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Case 8:18-cr-00140-DOC Document 1 Filed 07/12/18 Page 54 of 65 Page ID #:54

COUNTS FIFTEEN THROUGH NINETEEN
[18 U.S8.C. §§ 1341, 1346, 2(b)]
83, Paragraphs 1 through 30 and 36 through 42 of this
Indictment, inciluding all subparagrephs, are re-alleged and
incorporated by reference as 1f fully set forth herein.

A, THE SCEEME TO DEFRAUD

54. Beginning on an unknown date, but no later than in or about
May 2008, and continuing through at least in or about April 2013, in
Orange and Tos Angeles Countiles, within the Central District of
California, and elsewhere, defendant TAUBER, Drobot Jr., and others
known and ucknown te the Grand Jury at various times, knowingly ard
with intent to defraud, devised, participated in, and executed a
scheme to defraud patients of their wright to honest services of their
physicians’ performance of duties as treating physicians and medical
providers by sgoliciting, offering, accepting, and paying bribes and
kickbacks to induce the referral, purchasing, and/or ordering of .
Kickback Tainted Ancillary Services tc APS and Affiliates.

B. QPERATION OF THE SCHEME TO DEFRAUD

55. The fraudulent scheme cperated, in substance, as get forth

in paragraph 40 of this Indictment.

C. USE OF THE MAILS

55. On or about the following dates, within the Central
District of California, and elsewhere, defendant TAUBER, Drobet Jr.,
and other co-schemers, for the purpose of executing the above-
degaribed scheme to defraud, willfully caused the fcllowing items to
be placed in a post office and authorized depository for mail matter

to be delivered by the Postal Service, as set Forth below:
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COUNT

APPROXIMATE DATHE

MATILING

FIFTEEN

6/27/2012

The wailing of a claim for reimbursement
from APS Affiliate B to DOL~OWCP in .

Jondon, Kentucky for toxicology testing

in connection with patilent 8.6., for
whom defendant TAUBER ordered UA/UDT on
or about June 26, 2012,

SIXTEEN

11/206/2012

The mailing of a claim for reimbursement
from APS Affiliate B to DOL-OWCPE in
London, Kentucky for toxicelogy testing
for patient L.B., for whom defendant
TAUBER caused toxicology testing to be
performed on or about November 17, 2012.

SEVENTEEN

11./30/2012

The mailing of a claim for relmburgement
from APS Affiliate B to DOL-OWCP in
London, Rentucky for toxicology tegting
in connectlon with patient H.J., for
whom defendant TAUBER ordered UA/UDT on
or about November 28, 2012

EIGHTEEN

1a/11/2012

The mailing of a c¢laim for reimbursement
from APS Affiliate B to DOL-OWCP in
Lendon, Kentucky for toxicology testing
in connection with patient 0.C., for
whom defendant: TAUBER ordered UA/UDT on
or about December 8, 2012.

NINETEEN

12/21/2012

The mailing of a claim for reimbursement
From APS Affiliate B to DOL-OWCP din
London, Xentucky for toxicology testing
in connection with patient R.R., for
whom defendant TAUBER ordered UA/UDT on
or about December 19, 201Z2.
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Case 8:18-cr-00140-DOC  Document1 Filed 07/12/18 Page 56 of 65 Page ID #:56

COUNTS TWENTY THROUGE TWENTY-TWO

[18 U.S.C. §§8 1343, 1346, 2(b)}
57. Paragraphs 1 through 30 and 36 through 42 of this
Indictment, including all subparagraphs, are re-alleged and
incorﬁﬁrated by reference as if fully set Fforth herein.

A, THE SCHEME TO DEFRAUD

58. Beglnning on an unknown date, but no later than in or about
May 2008, and continuing through at least in or about April 2013, in
Orange and Los Angeles Countiles, within the Central District of
California, and elsewhere, defendant TAUBER, Drobot Jr., and others
known and unknown to the Grand Jury at various times, knowingly and
with intent to defraud, deviged, participated in, and executed a
gcheme to defraud patients of their right to honest services of thgir
physiciana’ performance of duties as treating physicians and medical
providers by scoliciting, offering, accepting, and paying kickbacks
and bribeg to induce the referral, purchasing, and ordering of
Kickback Tainted Anclllary Serviceg to APS and Affiliates.

B. OPHERATICON OF THE SCHEME TO DEFRAUD

59. The Fraudulent gscheme operated, in gubstance, as get forth
in paragraph 40 of this Indictment.

C. USE OF INTERSTATEH WIRES

60. On or about the following dates, within the Central
District of California, and elsewhere, defendant TAURER, Drobot Jr.,

and other co-schemers, for the purpose of executing the above-

described gcheme to defraud, transmitted and caused the transmisgion
of items by means of wire communication in interstate commerce, as

aet forth below:
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COUNT

APPROXTIMATE

DATE

INTERSTATE WIRE TRANSMISSION

TWENTY

10/17/2012

Interstate wire through Federal Reserve
Bank gervers in Dallag, Texas,
effectuating a trangfer of

$15,000 from IBM's 2122 City National
Acct to defendant TAUBER’g 3002 PacWest .
Bank Acct, Iin connesction with the
¢learing of a check dated October 10,
2012.

TWENTY ~
CNE

11/19/2012

Interastate wire through Federal Reserve
Bank sgervers in Dallas, Texag,
affectuating a transfer of

$15,000 from IPM’'a® 2122 City Natlonal
Acct to defendant TAUBBR’s 3002 PacWest
Bank Acet, in connection with the
c¢learing of a caheck dated November 10,
2012. ‘

TWENTY ~
TWO

12/27/2012

Interstate wire through Federal Reserve
Bank serversg in Dallasg, Texad,
effectuating a transfer of

$15,000 From IPM’e 2122 City National
Acct to defendant TAURER's 3002 PacWeat
Bank Acct, in comnaction with the
clearing of a check dated December 10,
2012, :
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Case 8:18-cr-00140-DOC  Document 1 Filed 07/12/18 Page 58 of 65 Page ID #:58

COUNTS TWENTY-THREE AND TWENTY-FOUR
{42 U.8.C¢. 8 1320a-7b(b) (1) (A); 18 U.8.C. § 2]

61. Paragraphs 1 throuch 30 and 33 through 35 of this
Indlectment, including all subparagraphs, are fe—alleged and
incorporated by reference am Lf fully set forth herein.

62. Om or about the dates =zet forth below, in Orange and Los
Angeles Ccunties, within the Central District of California, and
elsewhere, defendanf TAUBER knowingly and willfully solicited and
receiveﬁ, and willfully caused to be solicvited and received,
remuineration, directly and indirectly, overtly and covertly, in cash
and in kind, as‘identified below, in return for referring patients
for the furnishing and arranging for the Ffurnishing of ltems and

services, that is, Kickback Tainted Surgeries and Services at Pacific

Hogpital, for which payment was made in whole and in part‘under a
Federal health care program, namely, the FECA program:
COUNT REFERRAL | SURGEON / DATE OF REMUNERATION
SOURCE / SERVICE /
PATIENT EKICKBACK TAINTED
SURGERY OR
B8ERVICE
Defendant | Defendant Rent check number 19864, dated
TWENTY- | TAUBER / | CBUKHOFF / June 15, 2012, in the amount
THREE | Patient 07/03/z012 / of $23,706.80, from PSPM to
0.C. Spinal Surgery defendant TAUBER.
Defendant | Defendant Rent check number 14812, dated
TWENTY- | TAUBER / | OBUKHOFY / August 2, 2013, in the amount
FOUR | Patient 08/02/2013 / of $71,120.40, from FMM to
M.M. Spinal Surgery defendant TAUBER.
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Case 8:18-cr-00140-DOC Document 1 Filed 07/12/18 Page 59 of 65 Page ID #:59

COUNT TWENTY-FIVE

[42 U.8.C. § 1320a-7b{b) (1} (A); 18 U.8.C. § 2]

63. Paragraphs 1 through 30 and 33 through 35 of this
Indictment, including all subparagraphs, are re-alleged and
incorporated by reference ag 1f fully set forth herein.

64. Omn or about September 27, 2012, in Orange and Los Angelesg
Counties, within the Central District of (California, and elsewhere,
defendant OBURHOFF knowingly and willfully solicited and received,
and wilifully caused to be golicited and received, remuneration,
directly and indirectly, oveftly and covertiy, in casgh and in kind,

namely, check number 20054, in the amount of 380,000, in return for

raferring patiente for the furnishing and arranging for the
furnighing of items and services, that is, Xickback Tainted Surgeries
and Services at Paclfic Hogpital, including, a spinal gurgery on
patient 0.C. on or about July 3, 2012, for which payment wasg made in
whole and in part under a Federal health care program, namely, the

FECA program.
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Case 8718-cr-00140-DOC Document 1 Filed 07/12/18 Pag(e 60 of 65 Page ID #:60

FORFEITURE ALLEGATION ONE
[18 U.8.C. 8§ 982{(a)(7), 98L1{a) (1) {C) and 28 U.3.C. § 24861 (a)]

65. Pursuant to Rule 32.2(a), Fed. R. Crim. P., notice is
hereby given to defendants TAUBER and OBUKHOFF (collectively, the
“deféndants”) that the United States will meek forfeiture ag part of
Vany gentence in accordance with Title 18, United States Code,
Sectlons 982 (a) (7) and 981{(a) {1} (C) and Title 28, United States Code,
Secticon 2461 (c), in the event of any defendant's conviction under
Count One or any of Counts Three through Fourteen of this Indictwment.

£6. Defendants shall forfeit to the United States the following
propaerty:

a. all right, title, and interest in any and all
preperty, real or peisonal, that constitutes cr is derived, directly
or indirectly, f£rom the gross proceeds traceable to the commission of
any offense set forth in Count One or any of Counts Three through
Fourteen of this Indictment; and

b. a sum of money equal to Ehe total value of the
property described in subparagraph a. If moxe than one defendant is
found gullty under Count Cne or any of Counts Three through Fourteen
of this Indictment, each such defendantAfound guilty shall be liable
for the entire amount forfeited pursuant to that Count.

67. Purguant to Title 21, United States (ode, Section 853 (p},
ap lncorporated by Title 28, United States Code, Sectlon 2461{c), and
Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(h), each defendant ghall

forfeit substitute property, up tc the total wvalue of the property

described in the preceding paragraph if, as a result of any act or
omlggion of a defendant, the property described in the preceding
paragraph, or any portion thereof (a) cannot be located upon the
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Case 8:18-cr-00140-DOC  Document1 Filed 07/12/18 Page 61 of 65 Page ID #:61

exercise of due diligence; (b) has been transferred, sold to or

deposited with & third party; (c) has been placed beyond the

jurisdiction of the Court; (d} has been substantially diminished in
value; or (e) has been commingled with other property that cannot be

divided without difficulty.

61




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

28

>

A}

Fase 8:18-cr-00140-DOC  Document 1 Filed 07/12/18 Page 62 of 65 Page ID #:62

FORFEILTURE ALLEGAT&ON TWO
[18 U.8.C. 8§ 982(a) (7), 981(a) (1) (C) and 28 U.8.C. § 2461 ()]
68. Pursuant to Rule 32.2(a), Fed. R. Crim. P., notice is
hereby giveh to defendant TAUBER that the United States will seek
forfeiture as part of any sentence in accordance with Title 18,
United Stateg Code, Sections 982(a) (7) and 581 (a} (1) {C}) and Title 28,
United States Code, Section 2461 (c), in the event of defendant

TAUBER'=z conviction under Count Two or any of Counts Fifteen through

Twenty-Four of this Indictment.

69. Defendant TAUBER shall forfeit té the United States the
following property: .

a. all right, title, and interest in any and all
property, real or personal, that constitutes or is derived, directly
or indirectly, from the gross proceeds tracesble to the commission of
any offenge set forth in Count Two or any of Counts Fifteen through
Twenty-Four of this Indictment; and I .

b. a sum of money equal to the total value of the
property described in subparagraph a.

70. Pursguant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p),
as incorporated by Title 28, United States Codé,‘Section 2461 (@), and
Titie 18, United States Code, Section 982 (b), defendant TAUBER shall
forfeit subetitute property, up to the total value of the property
degeribed in the preceding paragraph 1f£, as a result of any act or
omizsion of defendant TAUBER, the property described in the preceding
paragraph, or any portion thereof {a) cannot be located upon the
exercise of due diligence; (b) hag been transgferred, sold to or

deposited with a third party; (c¢) has been placed beyond the

Jurisdiction of the Court; (d) has been substantially diminished in
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value; or {e) hae been_ commingled with other property that cannct be

divided without difficulty.
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FORFELTURE ALLEGATION THREH

[18 U.S.C. §§ 982(a) (7), 981(a) (1) (C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461 (c)]

71. Pursuant to Rule 32.2(a), Fed. R. Crim. P., notice is
hereby given to defendant OQBUKHOFF that the United States will sesek
forfeiture as part of any sentence in accordance with Title 18,
Tnited States Code, Sections 982 (a) (7} and %81(a) {1} (C) and Title 28,
United States Code, Section 2461 (c), in the event of defendant
OBUKHOFF' & conviction under Count Twenty-Five of this Indictment.

72. Defendant OBUKHOFF ghall forfeit to the Unilted States the
following property:

a. all right, title, and interest in any and all
proparty, reai or personal, that constitutés oxr is derived, directly
or indirectly, £rom the gross proceeds Lraceable to the commisslon of
any offenge set forth in Count Twenty-Five of this Indictment; and

b. a sum of money equal to the total value of the
property degcribed in subparagraph a.

73. Pursuant to Title 21, United Stateas Code, Section 853 (p),
as incorpeorated by Title 28, United States Code, Sectlon 2461 (c¢), and
Title 18, United States Code, Section 982{h), defendant OBUKHOFF

shall forfeit substitute property, up to the total wvalue of the

property degoxribed in the preceding paragraph 1if, as a result of any
act or omission of defendant OBUKHOFF, the property described in the
preceding paragraph, or any portion thereof (a) cannot be located
upon the exerclpe of due diligence; (b) has been tr;nsferred, gold to
or deposited with a third party; (¢} has been placed beyond the

/17
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jurisdiction of the Court; {(d) has been substantially diminished in

value; or (&) has been commingled with other property that canmot be
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divided without difficulty.

A TRUE BILL

/s /

Foreperson

TRACY L. WILKISON

Attorney for the United States,
Acting Under Authority Conferred
by 28 U.3.C. § 515

A~

LAWRENCE 8. MIDDLETON
Assigtant Unilted States Attorney
Chief, Criminal Division

DENNISE D. WILLETT
Asalstant United Stateg Attorney
Chief, Santa Bpna Branch Office

JOSEPH T. MCNALLY
Agsistant United States Attorney
Deputy Chief, Santa Ana Branch Office

ASHWIN JANAKIRAM
Aggistant United States Attorney
Major Frauds Section

SCOTT D. TENLEY
Aggistant United States Attorney
Santa Ana Branch Office
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TRACY L. WILKISON
Attorney for the United States,
Acting Under Authority Conferred
by 28 U.5.C. § 515
LAWRENCE S. MIDDLETON
Assistant United States Attorney
Chief, Criminal Division
JOSEPH T. MCNALLY (Cal. Bar No. 250289)
ASOWIN JANAKIRAM (Cal. Bar No. 277513)
SCOTT D. TENLEY {Cal. Bar No. 298911}
Assistant United States Attorneys
United States Courthouse
411 West Fourth Street
Santa Ana, California 92701
Telephone: (213) 894-2875
Facsimile: (714) 338-3561
Email: ashwin.janakiram@usdoj.gov

Attorneys for Plaintiff
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COQURT

FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, SA No. CR 18-140-JLs-1

Plaintiff, PLEA AGREEMENT FOR
DEFENDANT JACCB E. TAUBER

V.
JACOE E. TAUBER,

Defendant.

1. This constitutes the plea agreement between JACOB E. TAUBER

(“defendant”} and the United States Attorney’s Cffice for the Central

District of California (“the USAQ”) in Lhe above-captioned case.
This agreement is limited to the USAC and cannot bind any other
federal, state, local, or foreign prosecuting, enforcement,
administrative, or regulatory authorities.

DEFENDANT' s OBLIGATIONS

2. Defendant agrees to:

a. At the earliest opportunity requested by the USAOD

and
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provided by the Court, appear and plead guilty to count two of the

indictment in United States v. Jacob E. Tauber and Serge Obukhoff, SA

CR 18—140~JLS} which charges defendant with Conspiracy, in violation
of 18 U.5.C. & 371.

b. Not contest facts agreed to in this agreement.

C. Abide by all agreements regarding sentencing contained
in this agreement.

d. Appear for all court appearances, surrender as ordered
for service of sentence, obey all conditions of any bond, and obey
any other ongeing court order in this matter.

e. Not commit any c<rime; however, offenses that would be
excluded for sentencing purposes under United States Sentencing
Guidelines (“U.8.5.G.” or “Sentencing Guidelines”) § 4A1.2(c) are not
within the scope of this agreement.

f. Be truthful at all times with Pretrial Services, the
United States ?robation Office, and the Court.

qg. Pay the applicable special assessments at or before
the time of sentencing unless defendant lacks the ability to pay and
pricr to sentencing submits a completed financial statement on a form
tc be provided by the USRO.

h. Not seek the discharge of any restitution obligation,
in whole or in part, in any present or future bankruptcy proceeding.

i. Defendant understands and acknowledges that as a
result of pleading guilty pursuant to this agreement, defendant will
be excluded from Medicare, Medicaid, and all Federal health care
programs. Defendant agrees toc complete and execute all necessary
documents provided by the United States Department of Health and

Human Services, or any other department or agency of the federal

2
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government, to effectuate this exclusion within €0 days of receiving
the documents. This exclusion will not affect defendant’s right to
apply for and receive benefits as a beneficiary under any Federal
health care program, including Medicare and Medicaid.

3. Defendant further agrees:

i. Truthfully to disclose to law enforcement
officials, at a date and time to be set by the USAO, the lccation of,
defendant’s ownership interest in, and all other information known to
defendant about, all monies, properties, and/or assets of any kind,
derived from or acquired as a result of, or used to facilitate the
commission of, defendant’s illegal acﬁivities, and to forfeit all
right, title, and interest in and to such items, Specifically
including all right, title, and interest in and to all United States
currency, property and assets, which defendant admits constitutes the
proceeds of defendant’s 1llegal activity and were used to facilitate
defendant’s criminal activity in violation e¢f 18 U.S8.C. §§ 371,
including the objects of the conspiracy (the “Forfeitable Property”).

b. To withdraw any claim defendant may have submitted to
any federal agency in any administrative forfeiture proceedings
commenced by that agency with respect to the Forfeitable Property.
Defendant further waives his rights, i1f any, to any initial or
further notice relative to any administrative forfeiture proceedings.
Defendant understands, acknowledges, and agrees that the Forfeitable
Property shall, at the sole election of the United States of America,
be administratively forfeited to the United States of America without
any further notice.

C. To the entry, as part of defendaﬁt's guilty plea, of a

perscnal money judgment of forfeiture against defendant in the amcunt

3
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of five hundred twenty five thousand dollars {$525,000), which sum
defendant admits defendant obtained, received and possessed as a
result of violations of.18 U.s.C. §§ 371, and which judgment
defendant agrees can be enforced against assets owned by defendant.
Defendant agrees to pay the personal money judgment of forfeiture as
follows:

(1) Within sixty (60) days of the entry of
defendant’s guilty plea, defendant shall pay $500,000 by delivering
Lo the USAC a cashier’s check payable to the government entity
identified in writing by the USAQ; and

(ii) At least thirty (30) days before defendant’s
sentencing, defendant shall pay $25,000 by delivering to the USAO a
cashier’s check payable to the government entity identified in
writing by the USAO.

d. The parties agree that defendant will not receive any
credit towards his forfeiture obligation herein based on any amounts
defendant pays or paid in connecticn with the resolution of any civil
claims, wvoluntary asset turnovers, or administrative forfeitﬁres
initiated prior to the effective date of this agreement,
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties agree that the amount
forfeited under this agreement shall be credited towards any court
ordered restitution imposed against defendant, and thatl any
restitution payment defendant makes in the asbove-capticned case shall
be credited towards his forfeiture obligation.

e. To refrain from contesting the forfeiture (by filing &
claim, statement of interest, petition for an ancillary proceeding,

petition for remission or otherwise) of the Forfeitable Property in
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any administrative or judicial proceeding, or assisting any other
person or entity in falsely contesting the forfeiture of the
FForfeitable Property in any administrative or judicial proceeding.

f. Te take all steps necessary to pass Lo the United
States of America clear title to the Forfeitable Property, including,
without limitation, the execution of consent judgments of forfeiture,
the entry of any additicnal money judgments of forfeiture, the
identification of all monies, properties and asselts of any kind owned
and/or controlled by defendant, the liquidation of any item of the
Forfeitable Property in the manner required by the United States of
America in 1ts sole discretion, the transmission of any item of the
Forfeitable Prbperty to the United States of America upon request by

the USAC and the completion of any other legal documents required for

the transfer of title to the Forfeitable Property to the United

States of America.

g. To prevent the disbursement of the Forfeitable
BProperty without the authcrization of the USAO, if such disbhbursements
are within defendant’s direct or indireét control.

h. To the Court’s entry of an order of forfeiture at or
before sentencing with respect to the Forfeitable Property and to the
forfeiture cf the Forfeltakle Property. Defendant knowingly and
voluntarily waives (i) the requirements of Federal Rules of Criminal
Procedure 32.2 and 43(a) regarding notice of the forfeiture in the
charging instrument, announcement of the forfeiture at sentencing,
and incorporation of the forfeiture in the judgment; (ii) all
constitutional and statutory challenges in any manner {including by
direct appeal, habeas corpus, or any other means) Lo any forfeiture

carried out in accordance with this agreement on any grounds; and

5
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{iii) all constitutional, legal and equitable defenses to the
forfeiture of the Forfeitable Property in any procesding on any
grounds including, withecut limitation, that the forfeiture
constitutes an excessive fine or punishment. Defendant also
acknowledges and understands that the foffeiture of the Forfeitable
Property is part of the sentence that may be imposed in this case and
waives any failure by the Court to advise defendant of this, pursuant
to Rule 11(b) (1) (J), at the time defendant’s guilty plea is accepted.

4, Defendant further agrees to cooperate fully with the USAQ,
Federal Bureau of Investigation, United States Postal Service-0Office
of Inspector General, IRS5-Criminal Investigation, and California
Department of Insurance, and, as directed by the USAQ, any other
federal, state, local, or foreign prosecuting, enforcement,
administrative, or regulatory authority. This cocperation requires
defendant to:

a. Respond truthfully and completely to all questions
that may be put te defendant, whether in interviews, before a grand
jury, or at any trial or other court proceeding.

b. Attend all meetings, grand jury sessions, trials or
other proceedings at which defendant’s presence is regquested by the
USAO or compelled by subpcena or court order.

C. Produce woluntarily all documents, records, or other
tangible evidence relating to matters about which the USAQ, or its
designee, ingquires.

d. If requested to do so by the USAO, act in an
undercover capacity to the best of defendant’s ability in connection
with criminal investigations by federal, state, local, or foreign law’

enforcement authorities, in accordance with the express instructions

©
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of those law enforcement authorities. Defendant agrees not to act in
an undercover capacity, tape record any conversations, or gather any
evidence except after a request by the USAO and in accordance with
express instructions of federal, state, local, or foreign law
enforcement authorities.

5. For purposes of this agreement: (1} “Ccoperaticn

Information” shall mean any statements made, or documents, records,

tangible evidence, or other information provided, by defendant
pursuant to defendant’s cooperation under this agreement; and

(2) “Plea Information” shall mean any statements made by defendant,
under oath, at the guilty plea hearing and the agreed to factual
basis statement in this agreement.

THE USAC’S OBLIGATIONS

6. The USAC agrees to:
a. Not contest facts agreed to in this agreement.
b. Abide by all agreements regarding sentencing contained

in this agreement.

C. At the time of sentencing, move to dismiss the
remaining counts of the indictment as against defendant. Defendant
agrees, however, that at the time of sentencing the Court may
consider any dismissed charges in determining the applicable
Sentencing Guidelines range, the propriety and extent of any
departure from that range, and the sentence to be imposed.

d. Except for criminal tax violations (including
conspiracy to commit such violations chargeable under 18 U.S.C.

§ 371), not further c¢riminally prosecute defendant for wvieclations
arising ocut of defendant’s conduct described in the agreed-to factual

basis set forth in paragraph 17 below and in the attached Exhibkit A.
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Defendant understands that the USAO is free to criminally prosecute
defendant for any other unlawful past conduct or any unlawful conduct
that occurs after the date of this agreement. Defendant agrees that
at the time of sentencing the Court may consider the uncharged
conduct in determining the applicable Sentencing Guidelines range,
the propriety and extent of any departure‘from that range, and the
sentence to be imposed after consideration of the Sentencing
Guidelines and all other relevant factors under 18 U.S8.C. § 3553{a).

e. Subject to paragraph 19, at the time of sentencing,
provided that defendant demcnstrates an acceptance of responsibility
for the offense up to and including the time of sentencing, recommend
a two-level reduction in the applicable Sentencing Guidelines offense
level, pursuant to U.8.5.G. § 3El.1l, and recommend and, if necessary,
move for an additional one-level reduction if availabkle under that
section.

f. Recommend that defendant be sentenced to a term of
imprisonment nc higher than the low end of the applicable Sentencing
Guidelines range, provided that the offense level used by the Court
to determine that range is 19 or higher. For purposes of this
agreement, the low end of the Sentencing Guidelines range is that
defined by the Sentencing Table in U.S3.S5.G. Chapter 5, Part A,
without regard to reducticns in the term of imprisonment that may be
permissible through the substitution of community confinement or home
detention as a result of the offense level falling within Zone B or
zone C of the Sentencing Table.

7. The USAO further agrees:
a. Not to offer as evidence in its case-in-chief in the

above-capticned case or any other criminal prosecution that may be

8
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brought against defendant by the USAO, or in connection with any
sentencing proceeding in any criminal case that may be breought
against defendant by the USAC, any Cooperation Information.

Defendant agrees, however, that the USAO may use both Cooperation
Information and Plea Information: (1) to obtain and pursue leads to
other evidence, which evidence may be used for any purpose, including
any criminal prosecution of defendant; (2) Lo cross-examine defendant
should defendant testify, or to rebut any evidence offered, or
argument or representation made, by defendant, defendant’s counsel,
or a witness called by defendant in any trial, sentencing hearing, or
other court proceeding; and (3) in any criminal prosecution of
defendant for false statement, obstruction of justice, or perjury.

b. Not to use Cooperation Information against defendant
at sentencing for the purpose of determining the applicable guideline
range, including the appropriateness of an upward departure, or the
sentence to be imposed, and to recommend to the Court that
Cooperation Information nect be used in determining the applicable
guideline range or the sentence to be imposed. Defendant
understands, however, that Cooperation Information will be disclosed
to the probation cffice and the Court, and that the Court may use
Cocoperation Information for the purposes set forth in U.S5.8.06
§ 1B1l.8(b) and for determining the sentence to be impoéed.

S C. In connection with defendant’s sentencing, to bring to
the Court’s attention the nature and extent of defendant’s
cooperation.

d. Tf the USAQO determines, in its exclusive judgment,
that defendant has both complied with defendant’s obligations under

paragraphs Z through 4 above and provided substantial assistance to

9
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law enforcement in the prosecution or investigation of another
(“substantial assistance”), to move the Court pursuant to U.5.9.G.
§ 5K1.1 to fix an offense level and corresponding guideline range
below that otherwise dictated by the sentencing guidelines, and to
recommand a term of imprisonment within this reduced range.

DEFENDANT'" s UNDERSTANDINGS REGARDING COOPERATION

g. Defendant understands the following:

a. Any knowingly false or misleading statement by
defendant will subject defendant to prosecution for false statement,
obstruction cf justice, and perjury and will constitute a breach by
defendant of this agreesment.

k. Nothing in this agreement requires the USAQO or any
other prosecuting, enforcement, administrative, or regulatory
authcrity to accept any cooperation or assistance that defendant may
offer, or to use it in any particular way.

C. Defendant cannot withdraw defendant’s guilty plea if
the USAO deoces not make a motion pursuant to U.S5.3.G. § 5K1.1 for a
raeduced guideline range or if the USAQC makes such a motion and the
Court deces not grant it or if the Court grants such a USAC motion but
elects to sentence above the reduced range.

d. The USAO’s determination whether defendant has
provided substantial assistance will not depend in any way on whether
the government prevails at any trial or court hearing in which
defendant testifies cr in which the government otherwise presents
information resulting from defendant’s cooperation,.

NATURE OF THE OFFENSE

9. Defendant understands that for defendant to be guilty of

the crime charged in count two of the indictment, that is,

10
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conspiracy, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section
371, the following must be true: (1) between in or about May 2008 and
in or about April 2013, there was an agreement between two or more
persons tc commit violations of Title 18, United States Code,
Sections 1341, 1343, and 134¢ (Honest Services Mail and Wire Fraud);
and Title 42, United States Cecde, Section 1320a-7b(b) (1}
(Solicitation/Receipt of Kickbacks in Connection with a Federal
Health Care Program))}; (2) the defendant became a member of the
conspiracy knowing of at least one of its objects and intending to
help accomplish it; and (32) one of the members of the conspiracy
performed at least one overt act for the purpose of carrying out the
conspilracy,

10. Defendant‘understands that Honest Services Mail and Wire
Fraud, in violation cf Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341
and 1346, and 1343 and 1346, each an obkject of the conspiracy charged
in c¢ount two of the indictment, has the following elements: (1) the
defendant devised or participated in a scheme or plan fo deprive a
patient of his or her right tc honest servicea; (2) the scheme or
plan included payments of bribes and kickbacks to medical
professionals in exchange for medical services or items; (3) the
medical professionals owed a fidﬁciary duty to the patients; {4} the
defendant acted with the intent tc defraud by depriving the patients
of their right of honest services of the medical professionals; (5)
the defendant’s act was material, that 1s, it had a natural tendency
te influence, or was capable of influencing, a patient’s acts; and
(6) the defendant used, or caused someone Lo use, the mails and a
wire communication to carry out or attempt to carry out the scheme or

plan.

11
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11. Defendant understands that Receipt of Kickbacks in
Connection with a Federal Health Care Program, in viclation of Title
42, United States Code, Secticns 1320a-7b{b) (1), an cbject of the
conspiracy charged in ceount two ¢f the indictment, has the following
elements: (1) defendant knowingly and willfully received
remuneratiocn, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, frecm
another person; (2) the remuneration was given to induce defendant to
refer an individual for the furnishing or arranging for the
furnishing of any item or service for which payment may be made in
whole or in part under & Federal health care program; and {3}
defendant knew that such payment of remuneration was illegal.

FPENALTIES AND RESTITUTION

12. Defendant understands that the statutory maximum sentence
that the Court can impose for a wviclation of Title 18, United States
Code, Section 371, as charged in count two of the indictment, is:
five years’ imprisonment, a three-vyear period of supervised release;
a fine of $250,000 or twice the gross gain or gross lcoss resulting
from the coffense, whichever is greater; and a mandatory special
assessment of 35100.

13. Defendant understands that defendant will be required to
pay full restitution to the victims of the cffense to which defendant
is pleading guilty. DefendanlL agrees that, in return for the USAQ’'s
compliance with 1ts obligatiocns under this agreement, the Court may
order restitution to persons other than the victims of the cffense to
which defendant is pleading guiltyrand in amounts greater than those
alleged in the count to which defendant is pleading guilty. In
particular, defendant agrees that the Ccurt may order restitution to

any victim of any of the folleowing for any losses suffered by that

12
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victim as a result: {a) any relevant conduct, as defined in U.S8.S5.G.
§ 1B1.3, in connection with the offenses to which defendant is
pleading guilty; and (b) any charges not prosecuted pursuant to this
agreement as well as all relevant conduct, as defined in U.S8.8.G.

§ 1B1.3, in connection with those charges.

14. Defendant understands that supervised release is a period
of time following imprisonment during which defendant will be subject
tc various restrictions and requirements. Defendant understands that
1f defendant wviocolates one or more of the conditions of any supervised
release imposed, defendant may be returned to prison for all or part
of the term of supervised release authorized by statute for the
offense that resulted in the term of supervised release, which could
result in defendant serving a total term of imprisonment greater than
the statutory maximum stated above,

15. Defendant understands that, by pleading guilty, defendant
may be giving up valuable government benefits and wvaluable civic
rights, such as the right to vecte, the right to possess a firearm,
the right to hold office, and the right to serve on a jury.

Defendant understands that once the court acceptsrdefendant’s guilty
plea, it will be a federal felony for defendant to possess a firearm
or ammunition. Defendant understands that the conviction in this
case may also subject defendant to varicus other collateral
consequences, including but not limited Lo revocation of probaticn,
parole, or supervised release in another case, mandatory exclusion
from providing services for any federal health care benefit program
for at least five years, and suspension or revocation of a

professicnal license. Defendant understands that unanticipated

13
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collateral ccnsequences will not serve as grounds to withdraw
defendant’s guilty plea.

16. Defendant understands that, if defendant is not a United
States citizen, the felony convicticon in this case may subject
defendant to: femoval, also known as deportation, which may, under
some clrcumstances, be mandatory; denial of citizenship; and denial
of admission tc the United States in the future. The court cannot,
and defendant’s attorney also may not be able to, advise defendant
fully regarding the immigration consequences of the felony conviection
in this case. Defendant understands that unexpected immigration
consequences will net serve as grounds to withdraw defendant’s guilty
plea.

FACTUAL BASIS

17. Defendant admits that defendant ié, in fact, gullty of the
offense to which defendant is agreeing to plead guilty. Defendant
and the USAOC agree to the statement cof facts provided in the attached
Exhibit A and agree that this statement of facts is sufficient to
support a plea of guilty to the charge described in this agreement,
establish the Sentencing Guidelines factors set forth in paragraph 19
below, but is nct meant to be a complete recitation of all facts
relevant to the underlying criminal conduct or all facts known to
either party that relate to that conduct.

SENTENCING FACTORS

18. Defendant understands that in determining defendant’s
sentence the Court is required to calculate the applicable Sentencing
Guidelines range and to consider that range, possible departures
under the Sentencing Guidelines, and the other sentencing factors set

forth in 18 U.8.C. § 3553{a). Defendant understands that the

14




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18

19

20

21

27

23

24

25

26

27

28

Case 8:18-¢cr-00140-JLS Document48 Filed 10/21/18 Page 15 of 30 Page ID #:288

Sentencing Guidelines are advisory only, that defendant cannot have
any expectation of receiving a sentence within the calculated
Sentencing Guidelines range, and that after considering the
Sentencing Guidelines and the other & 3553(a) factors, the Court will
be free to exercise its discretion to impose any sentence it finds
appropriate up to the maximum set by statute for the offenses of
conviction.

12. Pursuant U.5.5.G. § 1Bl.2(a), defendant and the USAO
stipulate and agree to the following applicable Sentencing Guidelines
factors, based on the application of U.3.35.G. § 2B4.1:

Base Offense Level: 8 (U.8.8.G. § 2B4.1(a}) {2)]

Specific Cffense
Characteristics

Value of Improper Benefit
Conferred to Pacific Hospital

{between 3250K and $550K): +12 [U.S.5.G. § 2BR4.1(b) (1) (G)]
Abuse of Pcsition of Trust: +2 [U.8.8.G. § 3B1l.3]
Acceptance of Responsibility: -3 [U.8.8.G. § 3E1.1(a)]

Total cffense level: 19

The USAO will agree to a two-level downward adjustment for acceptance
of responsibility (and, if applicable, move for an additional one-
level downward adjustment under U.3.5.G. § 3E1.1(b)) only if the
conditions set forth in paragraphs 2 through 4 are met and if
defendant has not committed, and refrains from committing, acts
constituting obstruction of justice within the meaning of U.3.85.G. §
3C1.1, &s discussed below. Subject to paragraph 33 below, deféndant
and the USAO agree not tTo seek or argue, either orally or in writing,
that any other specific offense characteristics, adjustments, or

departures relating tce the offense level be imposed. Defendant
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agrees, however, that if, after signing this agreement but prior to
sentencing, defendant were to commit an act, or the USAC were to
discover a previously undiscovered act committed by defendant prior
to signing this agreement, which act, in the judgment of the USAO,
constituted obstruction of justice within the meaning of U.S8.5.G.

§ 3C1l.1, the USAO would be free to seek the enhancement set forth in
that section and to argue that defendant is not entitled to a
downward adjustment for acceptance of responsibility under U.3.3.G. §
3E1.1.

20. Defendant understands that there is no agreement as to
defendant’s criminal history or criminal history category.

21. Defendant and the USAC reserve the right to argue for a
sentence outside the sentencing range established by the Sentencing
Guidelines based on the factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) (1),
(ay {2), (a){3), (a)(6), and {a} (7).

WAIVER OF STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

22. Having been fully advised by defendant’s attorney regarding
application of the statute of limitations to the offense to which
defendant is pleading guilty, defendant hereby knowingly,
voluntarily, and intelligently waives, relinguishes, and gives up:

{a) any right that defendant might have not to be prosecuted for the
offense to which defendant 1s pleading guilty because of the
expilration of the statute of limitations for the offense priocr to the
filing of the indictment alleging that offense; and (b) any defense,
claim, or argument defendant could raise or assert that prosecution
of the offense to which defendant is pleading guilty is barred by the
expiration of the applicable statute of limitations, pre-indictment

delay, or any speedy trial violation.
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WAIVER OF CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS

23. Defendant understands that by pleading guilty, defendant

gives up the following rights:

a. The right to persist in a plea of not guilty.
k. The right to a speedy and public trial by jury.
. The right to be represented by counsel - and if

necessary have the court appoint counsel - at trial. Defendant
understands, however, that, defendant retains the right to be
represented by counsel - and if necessary have the court appoint
counsel -~ at every other stage of the proceeding.

d. The right to be presumed innocent and to have the
burden of proof placed on the government to prove defendant guilty
beyond a reasonable doubt.

e. The right to confront and cross-—-examine witnesses
against defendant.

E. The right to testify and to present evidence in
opposition to the charges, including the right to compel the
attendance of witnesses to testify.

g. The right not to be compelled to testify, and, if
defendant chose not to testify cr present evidence, to have that
choice not be used against defendant.

h. Any and all rights to pursue any affirmative defenses,
Fourth Amendment or Fifth Amendment claims, and other pretrial
motions that have been filed or could be filed.

WAIVER OF APPEAL OF CONVICTION

24. Defendant understands that, with the exception of an
appeal based on a claim that defendant’s guilty plea was involuntary,
by pleading guilty defendant is waiving and giving up any right to
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appeal defendant’s conviction on the offense to which defendant is
pleading guilty.

LIMITED MUTUAL WAIVER OF APPEAL OF SENTENCE

25, Defendant agrees that, provided the Court imposes a term of
imprisonment within the total statutory maximum, defendant gives up
the right to appeal all of the fellowing: (&) the procedures and
calculations used to determine and impose any portion of the
sentence; (b) the term cf imprisbnment imposed by the Court; (<) the
fine imposed by the court, provided it is within the statutory
maximurm; (di the amount and terms of any restitution order; {(e) the
term of prcbation or supervised release imposed by the Court,
provided it is within the statutory maximum; and (f) any of the
following conditicns of probation or supervised releasg imposed by
the Court: the conditions get forth in General Orders 318, 01-05,
and/or 05-02 of this Court; the drug testing conditicns mandated by
18 U.s.C. &§ 3563(a) (5) and 3583(d); and the alcohol and drug use
conditions authorized by 18 U.3.C. & 3563(b) (7).

26. Defendant also giveslup any right to bring a post-
cenvicticn collateral attack on the conviction or sentence, including
any order of restitution, except a pest-conviction collateral attack
based on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a claim of
newly discovered evidence, or an explicitly retroactive change in the
applicable Sentencing Guidelines, sentencing statutes, or statutes of
conviction.

27. The USAOQ agrees that, provided all portions of the sentence

are at or below the statutory maximum specified above, the USAO gives

up its right to appeal any portion of the sentence.
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RESULT CF WITHDRAWAL OF GUILTY PLEA

28.  Defendant agrees that if, after entering a guilty plea
pursuant to this agreement, defendant seeks to withdraw and succeeds
in withdrawing defendant’s guilty plea on any basis other than a
claim and finding that entry into this plea agreement was
involuntary, then {a) the USAQ will be relieved of all of its
obligations under this agreement, including in particular its
obligations regarding the use of Ccoperation Information; (b) in any
investigation, criminal prosecution, or civil, administrative, or
regulatory action, defendant agrees that any Cooperation Information
and any evidence derived from any Cooperation Information shall be
admissible against defendant, and defendant will not assert, and
hereby waives and gives up, any claim under the United States
Constitution, any statute, or any federal rule, that any Cooperatiocn
Information or any evidence derived from any Cooperation Information
should be suppressed or is inadmissible; and (¢} should the USAD
choose to pursue any charge that was not filed as a result of this
agreement, then (i) any applicable statute of limitations will ke
teclled between the date cf defendant’s signing of this agreement and
the filing coemmencing any such action; and (ii) defendant waives and
gives up all defenses based on the statute of limitations, any claim
of pre-indictment delay, or any speedy trial claim with respecf to
any such action, except to the extent that such defenses existed as
of the date of defendant’s signing this agreement.

EFFECTIVE DATE OF AGREEMENT

29. This agreement is effective upon signature and execution of
all required certificatiocons by defendant, defendant’s counsel, and an

Assistant United States Attorney.
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BREACH COF AGREEMENT

30. Defendant agrees that if defendant, at any time after the
effective date of this agreement, knowingly violates or fails to
perform any of defendant’s obligations under this agreement {(“a
breach”), the USAC may declare this agreement breached. For example,
if defendant knowingly, in an interview, before a grand jury, or at
trial, falsely accuses another perscon of criminal conduct or falsely
minimizes defendant’s own role, or the role of ancother, in criminal
conduct, defendant will have breached this agreement. All of
defendant’s obligations are material, a single breach of this
agreement i1s sufficient for the USAO to declare a breach, and
defendant shall not be deemed to have cured a breach without the
express agreement of the USAO in writing. If the USAO declares this
agreement breached, and the Court finds such a kbreach to have
occurred, then:

a. If defendant has previously entered a guilty plea
pursuant tc this agreement, defendant will not be able to withdraw
the guilty plea.

b. The USARO will be relieved of all its obligations under
this agreement; in particular, the USAQ: (i) will nc longer be bound
by any agreements concerning sentencing and will be free te seek any
sentence up to the statutory maximum for the crime to which defendant
has pleaded guilty; and (1ii) will no longer be bound by any agreement
regarding the use of Cooperation Information and will be free to use
any Cooperation Information Iin any way in any investigation, criminal
prosecution, or civil, administrative, or regulatory action.

c. The USAO will ke free to criminally prosecute
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defendant for false statement, cbstruction of justice, and perjury
based on any knowingly false or misleading statement by defendant.

d. In any investigation, criminal prosecution, or ciwvil,
administrative, or regulatoryraction: (i) defendant will not assert,
and hereby waives and gives up, any claim that any Coocoperation
Informaticn was obtained in violation of the Fifth Amendment
privilege against compelled self-incrimination; and (ii} defendant
agrees that any Cooperation Information and any Plea Information, as
well as any evidence derived from any Cooperation Information or any
Plea Information, shall be admissible against defendant, and
defendant will not assert, and hereby waives and gives up, any claim
under the United States Constitution, any statute, Rule 410 of the
Federal Rules of Evidence, Rule 11{(f) of the Federal Rules of
Criminal Procedure, or any other federal rule, that any Cooperation
Information, any Plea Information, or any evidence derived from any
Cooperation Information or any Plea Information should be suppressed
or is inadmissible.

31. PFollowing the Court’s finding of a knowing breach of this
agreement by defendant, should the USAC choose to pursue any charge
that was not filed as a result of this agreement, then:

a. Defendant agrees that any applicable statute of
limitations is tolled between the date of defendant’s signing of this
agreement and the filing commencing any such action.

b. Defendant waives and gives up &ll defenses based on
the statute of limitations, any claim cf pre-indictment delay, cr any
speedy trial claim with respect to any such action, except to the -
extent that such defenses existed as of the date of defendant’s

signing this agreement.
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COURT AND PROBATION OFFICE NOT PARTIES

32. Defendant understands that the Court and the United States
Prcbation Cffice are nct parties tc this agreement and need not
accept any of the USAO's sentencing recommendations or the parties’
agreements to facts or sentencing factors.

33. Defendant understands that both defendant and the USAO are
free to: {(a) supplement the facts by supplying relevant information
to the United States Probation Office and the Court, (b) correct any
and all factual misstatements relating to the Court’s Sentencing
Guidelines calculations and determination of sentence, and (¢) argue
on appeal and cocllateral review that the Court’s Sentencing
Guidelines calculations and the sentence it chooses tc impose are not
error, although esach party agrees to maintain its view that the
calculations in paragraph 18 above are consistent with the facts of
this case. While this agreement psrmits both the USAQO and defendant
to submit full and complete factual informatien to the United States
Prcbhbaticon Office and the Court, even if that factual information may
be viewed as inconsistent with the facts agreed to in this agreement,
this agreement does not affect defendant’s and the USAO’s obligations
not tc contest the facts agreed tc in this agreement.

34. Defendant understands that even if the Court ignores any
gsentencing recommendation, finds facts or reaches conclusions
different from those agreed to, and/or imposes any sentence up to the
maximum established by statute, defendant cannot, for that reason,
withdraw defendant’s guilty plea, and defendant will remain bound to
fulfill all of defendant’s obligations under this agreement.
Defendant understands that no one -- not the prosecutor, defendant’s

attorney, or the Court -- can make a binding prediction or promise
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regarding the sentence defendant will receive, except that it will be

Jiwithin the statutory maximum.

NO ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS

35. Defendant understands that, except as set forth in this
agraemént, there are no promises, understandings, or agreements
between the USRO and defendant or defendant’s attorney, and that no
additional promise, understanding, or agreement may be entered imnto
unless in a wyiting signed by all parties or on the record in court,

PLEA BGREEMENT PART OF THE GUILTY PLEA HREARENG

36. The partie§ agree that this agreement will be considered
part of the record of defendant’s guilty plea hearing as if the
entire agreement ﬁad.been read into the record of the proceeding.

AGREED AND ACCEPTED

UNITED STATES ATTORNEY'S OFFICE
FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF
CALIFORNIA

TRACY L. WILKISON

Attorney for the United States, -
Acting Under Authority Conferred

by 28 U.S5.C. § 515

Mjfw _[o/zl/20/8

ASHWIN JANAKERAM Date
Agsistant iped Shates Attorney

?ﬁ%?
bls 7

Attorney for Defendant
JACOB E. TAUBER

23
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CERTIFICATION OF DEFENDANT

I have read this agreement in its entirety. I have had enough

w N

time to review and consider this agreement, and I have carefully and
thoroughly discussed every part of it with my attorney. I understand

the terms of this agreement, and I voluntarily agree to those terms,

[+ R e

I have discussed the evidence with my attorney, and my attorney has

7 [fadvised me of my rights, of possible pretrial motions that might be

8 || £iled, of possible defenses that might be asserted either prior to or
9 [lat trial, of the sentencing factors set forth in 18 U.5.C, § 3553{a},
10 f|of relevant Sentencing Guidelines provisions, and of the consequances
11 jjof entering into this agreement. No promises, inducements, or

12 || representations of any kind havé been made to me other than those

13 Hecontained in this agreement. No one has threatened or forced me in
14 flany way to enter into this agreement. I am satisfied with the

L3 || representation of my attorney in this matter, and I am pleading

16 |fguilty because I am guilty of the charges and wish to take advantage
17 [lef the promises set forth in this agreement, and not for any other

18 || reason.

14

o| (A f oJrli

21 JBOB E. TAUBER Date | L
Defendant .
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CERTIFICATION OF DEFENDANT's ATTORNEY

T am JACOB E. TAUBFR's attorney. I have carefully and

thoroughly discussed every part of this agreement with my client.

Further, I have fully advised my client of his rights, of possible
pretrial motions that might be filed, of possible defénses that might
be asserted either prior te or at trial, of the sentencing factors
set forth in 18 U,S.C. § 3553(a), of relevant Sentencing Guidelines
provisions, and of the consequences of entering into this agreement.
To my knowledge: no promises, inducements, or representations of any
kind have been made to my client other than those contained in this
agreement; no one has threatened or forced my c¢lient in any way to
enter into this agreement; my client’s decisicen to enter inte this
agreement is an informed and voluntary one; and the factual basis set
forth in this agreement is sufficient o support my client’s entry of

a guilty plea pursuant Lo this agreement.

a7/ P

: Di?b
Attorney for Defendant
JACOB E. TAUBER
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EXHIBIT A
STATEMENT OF FACTS

Relevant FEntities

Pacific Hospital cf Long Beach (“Pacific Hospital”), was a
hospital leocated in Long Beach, California, specializing in
surgeries, particularly spinal and orthopedic surgeries. Along with
others, Michael D. Drobot (“Drobot”) owned and/or operated Pacific
Hospital at all relevant times. Drcbot and his co-ccnspirators also
centrolled Pacific Specialty Physician Management, Inc. (“PSPM”),
which was a corporaticn headquartered in Newport Beach, California,
that was used te enter into contractual arrangements with referral
sources to disguise and conceal illegal kickback payments.

California Pharmacy Management LLC (“CPM”) and Industrial
Pharmacy Management LLC (“IPM”) were limited liability companies,
headguartered in Newport Beach, California, that operated and managed
a pharmaceutical dispensing program in medical clinics for
physicians. Drobot and Michael R. Drobot Jr. (“Drcbeot Jr.”) owned
and/or cperated CPM. Drobot principally owned and controlled TPM
until approximately 2010, when Drobot Jr. assumed ownership and
control of IPM.

Advanced Practice Services, Inc., doing business as Advance
Pharmacy Services (YAP3”), was a “marketing” entity owned and
controlled by Drobot Jr. that steered ancillary service referrals,
purchases, and orders invelving magnetic resonance imaging (“MRIs”),
toxicology testing, and durable medical equipment {“DME”) to business
affiliates that paid APS for generating such business, including AFPS

Affiliate A, which was a DME provider, and APS Affiliate B, which was
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a laboratory that performed toxicology testing {collectively, “APS

Affiliates.”)

The Kickback Arrangements

Defendant was an orthopedic surgeon based in Beverly Hills and
Glendale, Califcrnia, who, during the relevant time period, performed
primarily non-spinal surgeries and generally referred spinal
surgeries to other surgeons. At all relevant times, defendant owed a
fiduciary duty to his patients. Beginning no later than May 2008 and
continuing through at least April 2013, defendant, along with Drobot,
Drobot Jr., and others, agreed to participate and did, in fact,
knowingly participate in two distinct illegal arrangements to pay and
receive kickbacks in exchange for referring surgeries and other
patient-related services to Pacific Hospital and APS Affiliates.

First, Drecbot Jr. paid defendant kickbacks and bribes for the
referral of ancillary services, such as MRIs, toxicology, and DME
(collectively, the “Kickback Tainted Ancillary Services”). &As Drobot
Jr. and defendant had entered into a pharmaceutical dispensing
agreement starting in January 2005, Drobot Jr. and defendant used
that agreement as vehicle to pay and disguise kickbacks and bribes
for Kickback Tainted Ancillary Services. To this end, CPM/IPM had no
publicly disclosed relationship with APS, and defendant’s pharmacy
agreement, as written, would not account for compensation from
CPM/IPM to defendant for referring, purchasing, and ordering DME,
MRIs, and toxicology testing for his patients. In reality, however,
dafendant would receive monthly payments from TPM -- purportedly for
dispensed medications -- that would, in fact, take into account
defendant’s expected or actual referrals, purchases, and orders of

the Kickback Tainted Ancillary Services.

27




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

i9

20

21

22

23

24

25

20

27

28

Case 8:18-cr-00140-JLS Document 48 Filed 10/21/18 Page 28 of 30 Page 1D #:301

For example, based on defendant’s August 2011 arrangement with
Drobot Jr. concerning toxicology business for APS and APS Affiliate
B, Drobot Jr. caused IPM to increase defendant’s menthly payments
under the pharmacy agreement -- purportedly for the dispensing of
pharmaceuticals -- from $8,000 tec $15,000 monthly. In other
instances, in exchange for defendant’s promise to use APS Affiliate A
fer DME, Drobct Jr. did not adve¥sely adjust defendant’s monthly
payments under the pharmacy agreement that would have otherwise been
lowered if the wvalue of Kickback Tainted Ancillary Services to APS
Affiliates was not considered.

Second, no later than in or about May 2010, Drobot Jr.
introduced defendant te Drobot tc arrange for kickbacks and bribes to
be paid to defendant te incentivize him to refer his patients
potentially requiring spinal surgeries to Pacific Hospital. Starting
in October 2010, illegal kickbkack and bribe payments from Drobot,
through PSPM, were provided teo defendant under the guise of a
sublease agreement, which purported to subleaze defendant’s entire
Beverly Hills office to PSPM, when, in reality, defendant, Drobot,
and other co-conspirators agreed and understood that PSPM weould use
only a fraction of the office space on a frequency ranging from once
per weelk to fwice per month for a spinal surgeon linked to Pacific
Hospital to examine spinal surgery candidates referred by defendant.
Justin Paquette, initially, and lafer, co-defendant Serge Cbukhofif
visited defendant’s Beverly Hills office to conduct the surgical
consults. Defendant understood that these surgeons had financial
incentives to perferm any resulting surgeries at Pacific Hospital,
including the fact that PSPM paid the otherwise applicable rent for

Paquette and co-defendant Obukhoff with no legal bassis for doing so,
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such that a surgical referral tc either of the surgeons was

tantamount to a referral te Pacific Hospital. Defendant further
understood that -- to incentivize defendant to refer patients to
these surgeons -- the sublease payments he received far exceeded the

fair market value of the space PSPM, Paguette, or co-defendant
Obukhoff actually used or intended to use for any purpose.

Defendant and his co-conspirators knew that the payment of
bribes and kickbacks for the referral of patients and crdering of
ancillary services was illegal. Defendant and his co-conspirators
further understood that the respective contractual arrangements
referenced above were used as a vehicle to disguise and conceal
illegal kickback and bribe payments. Defendant knew that had he
stopped referring patients to Pacific Hospital or ordering ancillary
services through AFP3, the payments under these contractual
arrangements would have ended. Morecver, the payment of kickbacks
for the referral of patients and ordering of ancillary services were
material to health care benefit programs and patients. Finally, the
use of interstate wires and mailings to execute essentisl parts of the
scheme was foreseeable to defendant; and interstate wires and mailings
were, in fact, used to execute essential parts of the scheme, including
bribe and kickback payments to defendant and his co-conspirators.

Between May 2008 and April 2013, CPM/IPM paid defendant at least
$900,000, a portion of which represented kickback and bribe payments
for ancillary services, including approximately $126,000 paid for
toxicology referrals to APS Affiliate B. In turn, PSPM and
affiliated entities paid defendant at least $782,000 under the
afcrementioned sublease agreement for the Beverly Hills office, based

on monthly payments of §23,706.80, while the fair market value of
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PSPM’s actual and intended use of the office did not exceed $11,500
per mcnth.

In furtherance of the conspiracy and to accomplish its cbjects,
defendant and his co-conspirators committed wvaricus overt acts within
the Central District of California, and elsewhere, as set forth in

count two of the indictment in United States v. Jacob E. Tauber and

Serge Obukhoff, SA CR 18-140-JLS.

These stipulated facts are not meant to indicate that defendant
provided any patients with substandard medical care or that any

treatment he provided or prescribed was not medically necessary.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

CRIMINAL MINUTES - GENERAL

Case No, 8:18-¢cr-00140-JLS-I Date November 15, 2018

Present: The Honorable JOSEPHINE L. STATON, U.S. District Judge

Interpreter None

Terry Guerrero Deborah Parker Scott Tenley
Deputy Clerk Court Reporter/Recorder Assistant U.S, Atiorney
U.S.A, v. Defendant(s): Present Cust, Bond Attorneys for Defendants: Present App, Ret
(1) JACOB E. TAUBER X X (1) Steven Sadow X X

Proceedings: CHANGE OF PLEA

X Defendant moves to change plea to Count _2_ of the Indictment.
Defendant sworn. Defendant state true name as Jacob Eric Tauber.

X
X Defendant enters new and different plea of GUILTY to Count 2 of the Indictment.

><i

The Court questions the defendant regarding plea of GUILTY and FINDS that a factual basis has
been la1d and further FINDS the plea is knowledgeable and voluntarily made. The Court ORDERS the plea
accepted and entered.

_X_ The Court further ORDERS the Plea Agreement incorporated into these proceedings.

X The Court refers the defendant to the Probation Office for investigation, and preparation of the pre-
sentence report. The matter is continued to May 3, 2019, at 9:30 a.m. for sentencing. The defendant is
ORDERED to return at that time. Further, sentencing position papers are due no later than two weeks before the
date of sentencing, including service on the assigned U.S. Probation Officer,

_X_ The Court further ORDERS the Status Conference and Jury Trial dates VACATED as to this |
defendant only.

X The Court further ORDERS the defendant released on the same terms and conditions as
previously set pending sentencing.

00 : 45

Initials of Deputy Clerk  tg

ce: USPO-SA; PSA

CR-11 (10/08) CRIMINAL MINUTES - GENERAL: Page 1 of |



Declaration of Daisy Marbella
{In Support of Notice of Provider Suspension)

I, Daisy Marbella, hereby 'cieclare and state as follows;

. I make this declaration of my own personal knowledge and if called to testify, I
could and would testify competently to the matters stated herein,

. I am employed by the State of California, Department of Industrial Relations
(“Department”), Office of the Director, as a Special Investigator. I have been an
investigator with the Department since 2019, I make this Declaration in
support of the “Notice of Provider Suspension ~ Workers’ Compensation” issued °
by the Acting Administrative Director of the Division of Workers Compensation,
attached herein. .

. As part of my duties as a Special Investigator, I have access to investigative
tools and internet-based information databases such as LexisNexis Accurint.
Theése database resources provide access to public and non-public records that
we use as necessary, for purposes of our legal work and representation of the
Department in workers’ compensation cases and in other htlgaﬁons to locate
individuals, uncover assets, and verify identities.

. On or about March 14, 2019 I noted the address of record for Jacob E. Tauber -
with Tauber Medical Corporation and Jacob E. Tauber, M.D., A Professmnal
Corporation as: 9033 Wilshire Blvd., Ste, 401, Beverly Hills _CA 90211.

. On or about March 14, 2019, I ran a search on Dr, Jacob E, Tauber aka Jacob
Eric Tatiber, Jacob C. Tauber, Jacob E. Pauber, J R Tauber, J E Tauber, Jaco

" Eric ER in the Lexis-Nexis Accurint database, The searches provided the
following information: Dr. Jacob E. Tauber is associated with an address in
Beverly Hills, CA; Glendale, CA and Norfolk, VA. {I will not state the address so
as to not reveal Dr. ’I‘auber s home address)

. Tdeclare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that
the foregomg is true and correct. Executed this 15% day of March 2019, in

Dalsy Marbella
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA (Southern Division - Santa Ana)
CRIMINAL DOCKET FOR CASE #: 8:18-cr-00140-JLS-1

Case title: USA v. Tauber et al
Other coutt case number; SACR14-00034 JL.S

Date Filed: 07/12/2018

Assigned to: Judge Josephine L. Staton

Defendant (1)
Jacob K, Tauber

Pending Counts

18:371: Conspiracy

(1)

18:371: Conspiracy

)

[8:1341,1346,2(b): Mail Fraud Involving
Deprivation of Honest Services; Aiding and

Abetting and Causing an Act to be Done
(3-3)

18:1343,1346,2(b): Wire Fraud Involving
Deprivation of Honest Services; Aiding and
Abetting and Causing an Act to be Done
(6-11)

hitps:/fecf.cacd.uscourts.govicgi-bin/DktRpt.pl?741833662843114-L_1_0-1

represented by Steven H Sadow

Steven H. Sadow PC

260 Peachtree Street NW Suite 2502
Atlanta, GA 30303

404-577-1400

Fax: 404-577-3600

Email: stevesadow(@gmail.com
LEAD ATTORNEY

PRO HAC VICE

ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED
Designation: Retained

Ellyn S Garofalo

DLA Piper US LLP

Notth Tower

2000 Avenue of the Stars Suite 400
Los Angeles, CA 90067-4704
310-595-3000

Fax: 310-595-3300

Email: ellyn.garofalo@dlapiper.com
TERMINATED: 10/15/2018
ATTORNEY 10 BE NOTICED

Disposition
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18:1952(a)(3);18:2: Use of an Interstate
Facility in Aid of Unlawful Activity; Aiding
and Abetting and Causing and Act to be
Done

(12-14)

18:1341,1346,2(b): Mail Fraud Involving
Deprivation of Honest Services; Aiding and

Abetting and Causing an Act to be Done
(15-19)

18:1343,1346,2(b): Wire Fraud Involving

Deprivation of Honest Services; Aiding and |

Abetting and Causing an Act to be Done
(20-22)

42:1320a-7b(b)(1)(A),18:2: Soliciting and
Receiving lllegal Remunerations for Health
Care Referrals; Aiding and Abetting and

Causing an Act to be Done
(23-24)

Highest Offense Level (Opening)

Felony

Terminated Counts
None

Highest Offense Level (Terminated)

None

Complaints

None

CM/ECF - California Central District

Disposition

Disposition

Plaintiff
USA

https:/fecf.cacd.uscourts. goviegi-bin/DkiRpt. pl?741833562843114-L_1_0-1

represented by Ashwin Janakiram

AUSA - Office of the US Attorney
General Crimes Section

312 North Spring Strect Suite 1100
Los Angeles, CA 90012
213-894-2875

Fax: 213-894-6269

Email: ashwin.janakiram@usdoj.gov
LEAD ATTORNEY

ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED
Designation: Assistant US Atiorney

Joseph Timothy MecNally
AUSA - Office of US Aftorney
Santa Ana Division

411 West Fourth Strect 8th Floor
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Santa Ana, CA 92701
714-338-3500

. Fax: 714-338-3708
Email: joseph.menally@usdoj.gov
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED

Scott D Tenley

AUSA - Office of US Attorney
Santa Ana Branch Office

411 West Fourth Street 8th Floor
Santa Ana, CA 92701
714-338-2829

Fax: 714-338-3561

Email: scott.tenley@usdoj.gov
ATTORNEY 10 BE NOTICED
Designation: Assistant US Attorney

Date Filed # | Docket Text

07/12/2018 INDICTMENT Filed as to Jacob E Tauber (1) count(s) 1-2, 3-5, 6-11, 12-14, 15-19, 20-22,
23-24, Serge Obukhoff (2) count(s) 1, 3-5, 6-11, [2-14, 25. Offense occurred in LA. (mhe)
(Entered: 07/17/2018)

CASE SUMMARY filed by AUSA Ashwin Janakiran as to Defendant Jacob E Tauber;
defendants Year of Birth: {951 (mhe) (Entered: 07/17/2018)

NOTICE of Related Case(s) filed by Plaintiff USA as to Defendant Jacob E Tauber, Serge
Obukhoff Related Case(s): 8:14CR34 (mhe) (Entered: 07/17/2018)

MEMORANDUM filed by Plaintiff USA as to Defendant Jacob E Tauber, Serge
Obukhoff. Re Magistrate Judge Jacqueline Chooljian, Magistrate Judge Patrick J. Walsh,
Magisirate Judge Sheri Pym, Magistrate Judge Michael Wilner, Magistrate Judge Jean
Rosenbluth, Magistrate Judge Alka Sagar, Magistrate Judge Douglas McCormick, and
Magistrate Judge Rozella Oliver (mhe) (Entered: 07/17/2018)

MEMORANDUM filed by Plaintiff USA as to Defendant Jacob E Tauber, Serge
Obukhoff. This criminal action, being filed on 7/12/18, was pending in the U. S. Attorneys
Office before the date on which Judge Andre Birotte Jr began receiving criminal matters, it
was not pending in the U. S. Attorneys Office before the date on which Judge Michael W,
Fitzgerald began receiving criminal matters(mhe) (Entered: 07/17/2018)

ORDER RE TRANSFER PURSUANT TO GENERAL ORDER 16-05 Related Case filed.
Related Case No: SACR14-00034 JL.S. Case, as to Defendant Jacob E Tauber, Serge
Obukhoff, transferred from Judge David O. Carter to Judge Josephine L. Staton for all
further proceedings. The case number will now reflect the initials of the transferee Judge
SACRI8-00140 JLS. Signed by Judge Josephine L. Staton. (Iwag) (Entered: 07/18/2018)

08/15/2018 16 | ORDER RE CRIMINAL PROCEEDINGS for cases assighed to Judge Josephine L.
Staton. (tg) (Entered: 08/15/2018)

08/20/2018 18 | STIPULATION for Order PROTECTIVE ORDER filed by Plaintiff USA as to Defendant
Jacob E Tauber, Serge Obukhoff (Attachments: # | Proposed Order)(Janakiram, Ashwin)
{(Entered: 08/20/2018)

08/21/2018 22 i PROTECTIVE ORDER 18 by Judge Josephine L. Staton as to Defendant Jacob E Tauber,
Serge Obukhoff. (es) (Entered: 08/21/2018)
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3/27/2019
08/30/2018

CM/ECF - California Central District

Notice of Appearance or Withdrawal of Counsel: for attorney Scott D Tenley counsel for
Plaintiff USA. Adding Scott D. Tenley as counsel of record for USA for the reason
indicated in the G-123 Notice. Filed by Plaintiff USA. (Attorney Scott D Tenley added to
party USA(pty:pla))(Tenley, Scott) (Entered; 08/30/2018)

08/30/2018

Notice of Appearance or Withdrawal of Counsel: for attorney Joseph Timothy McNally
counsel for Plaintiff USA. Adding Joseph T. McNally as counsel of record for USA for the
reason indicated in the G-123 Notice. Filed by Plaintiff USA. (Attorney Joseph Timothy
McNally added to party USA(pty:pla))(McNally, Joseph) (Entered: 08/30/2018)

09/26/2018

APPLICATION of Non-Resident Attorney Steven H. Sadow to Appear Pro Hac Vice on
behalf of Defendant Jacob E Tauber (Pro Hac Vice Fee - $400 Fee Paid, Receipt No, 0973-
22485606) Filed by Defendant Jacob E Tauber. (Attachments: # | Proposed Order)
(Attorney Ellyn S Garofalo added to party Jacob E Tauber(pty:dft)) (Garofalo, Ellyn)
(Entered: 09/26/2018)

09/27/2018

ORDER by Judge Josephine L. Staton, GRANTING 31 Non-Resident Attorney Steven H.
Sadow APPLICATION to Appear Pro Hac Vice on behalf of Defendant Jacob E. Tauber,
designating Ellyn S. Garofalo as local counsel. (es) (Entered: 09/27/2018)

(9/27/2018

Joint STIPULATION for Hearing as to Reschedule Initial Appearance filed by Defendant
Jacob E Tauber (Attachments; # | Proposed Order)(Sadow, Steven) (Entered: 09/27/2018)

09/28/2018

2nd AMENDED Summons Returned Executed on 9/27/18. as to Jacob E Tauber (mat)
(Entered: 09/28/2018)

10/15/2018

MINUTES OF POST-INDICTMENT ARRAIGNMENT: held before Magistrate J udge
Karen E. Scott as to Defendant Jacob E Tauber (1) Count 1-2,3-5,6-11,12-14,15-19,20-
22,23-24, Defendant arraigned, states true name: As charged. Defendant entered not guilty
plea to all counts as charged. Case assigned to Judge Josephine L Staton. Court orders bail
set for Jacob E Tauber (1) $250,000 Appearance Bond, see attached for terms and
conditions. Jury Trial set for 12/11/2018 09:00 AM before Judge Josephine L. Staton.
Status Conference set for 11/30/2018 11:30 AM before Judge Josephine L. Staton. Court
Smart: CS 10/15/18. (mhe) (Entered: 10/18/2018)

10/15/2018

DESIGNATION AND APPEARANCE OF COUNSEL; filed by Steven H Sadow
appearing for Jacob E Tauber (mhe) (Entered: 10/18/2018)

10/15/2018

DECLARATION RE: PASSPORT filed by Defendant Jacob E Tauber, declaring that 1
have been issued a passport or other travel document(s), but they are not currently in my
possession. I will surrender any passport or other travel document(s) issued to me, to the
U.S. Pretrial Services Agency by the deadline imposed. I will not apply for a passport or
other travel document during the pendency of this case. (mhe) (Entered: 10/18/2018)

10/15/2018

STATEMENT OF CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS filed by Defendant Jacob E Tauber
{mhe) (Entered: 10/18/2018)

10/18/2018

BOND AND CONDITIONS OF RELEASE filed as to Defendant Jacob E Tauber
conditions of release: $250,000 approved by Magistrate Judge Karen E. Scott. (mat)
(Entered: 10/19/2018)

10/18/2018

PASSPORT RECEIPT from U. 8. Pretrial Services as to Defendant Jacob E Tauber. USA
passport was received on 10/17/18. Re: Declaration re Passport (CR-37), 43 . (mat)
(Entered: 10/19/2018)

10/21/2018

48

PLEA AGREEMENT filed by Plaintiff USA as to Defendant Jacob E Tauber (Janakiram,
Ashwin) (Entered: 10/21/2018)

10/30/2018

50

SCHEDULING NOTICE by Judge Josephine L. Staton as to Defendant Jacob E. Tauber.

https:flecf.cacd.uscourts .gov!cgi;binl DktRpt.pi?741833562843114-_1_0-1 445



32772019
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A Change of Plea Hearing is set for 11/15/2018 at 2:00 p.m. Counsel and Defendant are
ordered to appear. THERE IS NO PDF DOCUMENT ASSOCIATED WITH THIS
ENTRY. (tg) TEXT ONLY ENTRY (Entered: 10/30/2018)

11/15/2018

MINUTES OF (IN CHAMBERS) ORDER RE CORRESPONDENCE by Judge Josephine
L. Staton as to Defendant Jacob E Tauber: The Court is in receipt of correspondence
submitted by Steven C. Glickman and Tom Ochsner, Jr. Local Rule 83-2.5 prohibits
attorneys or parties from communicating with the Court in this manner. The Court has not

reviewed the correspondence and orders it forwarded to defense counsel forthwith. (es)
(Entered: 11/15/2018)

11/15/2018

MINUTES OF CHANGE OF PLEA Hearing held before Judge Josephine L. Staton as to
Defendant Jacob E Tauber, Defendant sworn. Court questions defendant regarding the
plea. The Defendant Jacob E Tauber (1} pleads GUILTY to Count 2 of the Indictment. The
plea is accepted. The Court ORDERS the preparation of a Presentence Report. Sentencing
set for 5/3/2019 at 9:30 AM before Judge Josephine L. Staton. Court Reporter: Deborah
Parker. (es) (Entered: 11/15/2018)

12/15/2018

MINUTES (IN CHAMBERS) ORDER RE CORRESPONDENCE by Judge Josephine L.
Staton: Local Rule 83-2.5 prohibits attorneys or parties from communicating with the
Court in this manner. The Court has not reviewed the correspondence and orders it
forwarded to defense counsel forthwith. (jp) (Entered: 12/19/2018)

03/05/2019

NOTICE of Manual Filing of Ex Parte Application, Proposed Order, Under Seal
Document filed by Plaintiff USA as to Defendant Jacob E Tauber (Janakiram, Ashwin)
(Entered: 03/05/2019)

03/07/2019

SEALED - GOVERNMENT'S UNOPPOSED EX PARTE APPLICATION for Order
Filing Documents Under Seal; Declaration of Ashwin Janakiram. (jp) (Entered:
03/08/2019)

03/07/2019

SEALED - ORDER SEALING DOCUMENTS by Judge Josephine L. Staton. (jp)
(Entered: 03/08/2019)

03/07/2019

SEALED - FIRST STIPULATION to Continue Sentencing Date. (jp) (Entered:
03/08/2019)

03/07/2019

SEALED - ORDER CONTINUING SENTENCING DATE by Judge Josephine L. Staton.
(ip) (Entered: 03/08/2019)
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